
PENSION COMMITTEE
10.00 am

FRIDAY 25 SEPTEMBER 2020

IMPORTANT NOTICE: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED REMOTELY 
AND CAN BE VIEWED VIA: WWW.GLOUCESTERSHIRE.GOV.UK 

MEETING PAPERS

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/




PENSION COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 25 September 2020
VENUE: REMOTE MEETING

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest - Andrea Griffiths
Members of the Committee are invited to declare any financial or 
pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda.

3.  Public Questions - Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written questions about matters that are within the 
powers and duties of the Committee. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10.00am on Friday 18th September 2020.

4.  Members' Questions - Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time 
for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on Friday 18th September 
2020.

5.  Minutes - (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Griffiths
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 
14th February 2020.  

6.  Presentation on Responsible Investment & Climate Change 
(Pages 7 - 22)

Paul Blacker

To receive a presentation from Brunel Pension Partnership.

7.  Actuarial Update Report (Pages 23 - 44) Julie West
To receive an update report from Hymans Robertson

8.  Exit Credit Policy - Hymans Robertson (Pages 45 - 50) Julie West

9.  Pension Fund Risk Register (Pages 51 - 62) Paul Blacker

10.  Pension Fund Business Plan 2020/21 (Pages 63 - 70) Paul Blacker



11.  Pension Administration Report (Pages 71 - 74) Alan Marshall

12.  Market Valuations & Quarterly Performance Review (Pages 75 
- 128)

Paul Blacker

To receive a summary of Quarter 1 & 2.  

13.  Exclusion of the press and public Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Resolved

 That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following agenda items, because it is likely 
that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

14.  Exempt Minutes (Pages 129 - 134) Andrea Griffiths
To approve as a correct record the exempt minutes of the 
meetings held on 14th February 2020.

15.  Investment Report (Pages 135 - 154) John Arthur

16.  Private Markets Update (Pages 155 - 166)
To receive a presentation from Brunel Pension Partnership. Paul Blacker

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Rachel Smith, Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Ray Theodoulou and 
Cllr David Brown

COOPTEES -   Peter Clark and Cllr David Gray

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to 
the commencement of the meeting. 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 14 February 2020 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr David Brown
Peter Clark

Apologies: Cllr Nigel Cooper

In Attendance: Cllr Nigel Moor, Steve Mawson, Paul Blacker, Mark Spilsbury, Johm 
Arthur (Independent Advisor), Vanness Jacca (BPP), Chris Crozier 
(BPP) and Andrea Griffiths.  

1. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No public questions were received.  

2. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No Members’ questions were received.  

3. MINUTES - 

The minutes of the meeting held on the 8th November 2019 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairperson.  

Resolved 

That the public minutes of the meeting held on the 8th November 2019 be 
approved as a correct record.  

4. PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of Pensions introduced the risk register explaining that the 
risk register was a live document and therefore it was important for it to reflect the 
discussion carried out by the committee.    

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Members were informed that since the risk register was last considered by the 
Committee, a number of changes had been made and were highlighted in yellow.  

As agreed at the last meeting, a new risk had now been added as risk G11, in 
relation to Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factors, including Climate 
Change. The Committee discussed the wording in detail, including the dangers of  
stranded assets.  After a lengthy discussion the Committee approved the wording in 
relation to the G11 risk.          

 The Head of the Pension Fund explained that Faith Ward from BPP would attend 
the next meeting of the Pension Committee to give a detailed presentation on 
Climate Change.  It was agreed that an invitation to attend the presentation would 
be extended to all GCC Councillors, District Cabinet Members with a responsibility 
for Climate Change and/or other relevant officers from the District Council’s and 
Section 151 Officers.  

In response to a question, relating to F/D5 risk, it was explained that large 
employers, for example GCC, had opted out of the scheme.  The Committee 
requested the wording be amended to state ‘large employers’.  

Resolved 

That the committee noted the Risk Register and approved the detail in 
relation to the new risk G11.  

5. FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT 

The Head of the Pension Fund presented the report.  Members were advised that 
the proposed Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) was attached as Appendix 1to the 
report  and, if approved by the Committee it would be effective from 1 April 2020. 

It was explained that the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) had been prepared in 
conjunction with Fund’s Actuary Hymans Robertson, in accordance with Regulation 
58 (4) (a) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2013, 
guidance published by CIPFA, “Preparing and Maintaining a funding strategy 
statement”, and  with regard to the Investment Strategy Statement.  

The Committee were informed that the Funding Strategy Statement was an 
important document since it sets out, in detail, all of the key assumptions which the 
actuary used in preparing the 2019 actuarial valuation, together with the 
Administering Authority’s policies in the areas where the Administering Authority 
has discretion to manage the Funding position of the Fund. It was explained that 
these all had a direct impact on the employer contributions set under the valuation.

Officers explained the FSS was reviewed in detail at least every three years as part 
of the triennial valuation process, unless there were any regulatory or general 
changes required. The Head of Pensions informed the Committee that the FSS had 
been circulated to all of the employers within the fund for consultation, and that no 
responses were received.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Resolved

That the Committee approved the Funding Strategy Statement.  

6. PENSION BOARD - TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund, presented the report and highlighted the 
proposed key changes, which included the increasing the membership of the board.  

Members were advised that for the first time since the establishment of the Board in 
2015, the Boards’ last meeting was not quorate, because both of the employee 
representatives were unable to attend. One of whom had subsequently stepped 
down from the Board. To prevent a repeat of this situation, it was proposed to 
increase the membership of the Board to seven members (3 employer, 3 employee 
and the chair), with the formal quorum remaining as three members, to include one 
employer representative and one employee representative.

In response to a question, it was explained that employee representatives would be 
released from duties to attend meetings without being penalised.   After some 
discussion, the Committee agreed the revised terms of reference and agreed that 
they be submitted to the Constitution Committee for approval.  

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the proposed amendments to the terms of 
reference of the Gloucestershire Local Pension Board and noted the 
appointments to be made in accordance with the amended terms of 
reference.  It was agreed that the revised terms of reference be submitted to 
the Constitution Committee for approval.  

7. PENSION FUND - AUDIT FRAMEWORK AND ASSURANCE 

Mark Spilsbury advised the Committee that the Gloucestershire Pension Fund was 
audited by both External and Internal Auditors. In the case of the Gloucestershire 
Fund external audit was currently provided by Grant Thornton, whilst Internal Audit 
was provided by the GCC Internal Audit, Risk Assurance Team.

It was noted that reports emanating from both sets of auditors were currently 
reported  to the Audit and Governance Committee and had not been previously 
reported to the Pension Committee.

However following discussion at the last meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee, it was felt to be appropriate to determine whether the Committee was 
content with current arrangements, or whether it would wish to receive summary 
reports from the auditors to the Fund.

The Director of Corporate Resources suggested the Chief Internal Auditor be 
invited to attend the next meeting of the Committee to provide a briefing session on 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

the Audit Plan to develop members understanding.   The Committee welcomed this 
suggestion and requested Officers to make the necessary arrangements.  

After some discussion, it was agreed that the Head of Pensions would be tasked 
with reporting any limited assurance internal audit findings, when they arise to the 
next meeting of the Pension Committee.  It was also agreed that the full reports 
would be submitted to the Pension Board for overview.  

Resolved 

That the Committee agreed that  the Head of Pensions would be required to 
report any limited assurance internal audit findings, when they arose to the 
next meeting of the Pension Committee.

The Committee also agreed that External Audit Reports should be reviewed 
by the Pension Board.  

8. MARKET VALUATIONS AND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REVIEW OF THE 
PENSION FUND: QUARTER 4 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of Pension Fund presented an overview of market valuations 
and an update on the performance of the Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Scheme, (LGPS), as at 30 December 2019. 

The Committee discussed the report in detail.  

During the discussion members referred to the performance report layout and felt 
that there was no historical data to judge performance against.  It was explained 
that it was difficult during the transition period, with assets having only been 
managed by the Brunel Pension Partnership for a short period..  

It was noted, in terms of asset classes, the Independent Advisors Report would 
contain more detail. The Independent  Advisor agreed, wherever possible,  to 
include the return per annum over a ten and twenty year period in his future reports, 
in relation to each asset class, in order to give some perspective.  

Resolved 

That the performance report was noted.

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

It was resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 & 5 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

10. EXEMPT MINUTES 

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 8th November 2019 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
  
Resolved 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 8th November 2019 be 
approved as a correct record.  

11. REPORT FROM THE INDEPENDENT ADVISOR TO THE FUND 

Independent Advisor, John Arthur, provided members with an update on current 
investments.  It was reported that the Pension Fund overperformed against its 
performance target in Q4 2019.  The level of overperformance was within risk 
tolerances, and it was reported that the fund was also close to achieving its 
performance target over the medium and longer term.  The Committee were 
referred to the detailed Performance and Executive Summaries contained within the 
report.    

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

12. REVIEW OF THE PENSION FUND STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION AND 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT 

The Independent Advisor presented the report in detail.   

Resolved 

That the Committee considered the Strategic Asset Allocation in association 
with the draft Investment Strategy Statement and agreed to adopt option 3 in 
the long term.  

13. BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP - PROPERTY UPDATE 

The Committee received a detailed presentation by Vanessa Jacca & Chris Crozier 
from BPP.    

Resolved

That the Committee received a presentation.   

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 1.35 pm

Page 6



Forging better futures 
Public 25 Sep 2020

Brunel Pension Partnership

Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Authorised and regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 6



Forging better futures 
Public

2

Brunel overview
• Brunel Pension Partnership (Brunel) is one of the eight national Local 

Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) pools, bringing together circa £30 billion 
investments of 10 likeminded funds.

• Brunel formally began its operations on 18 July 2017 upon the execution of the 
current shareholders agreement and its subsequent annexes, such as the 
services agreement

• Brunel is authorised by the Financial Conduct authority as a full-service MiFID 
firm since March 2018. 

P
age 8



Responsible Investment Update

Covid-19 Pandemic and RI 

The Covid-19 pandemic has fired up Responsible Investment activity

3
Forging better futures
Public

P
age 9



Responsible Investment Update

• COVID has heightened almost 

every area of our work and 

uncovered important new topics 

• Climate change remains a focus 

• Increased spotlight on the ‘S’ of 

ESG

Covid-19 Pandemic and RI 

Forging better futures
Public

P
age 10



Responsible Investment Update 

Climate Change – Barclays update 

Forging better futures
Public

• Brunel co-filed the first 

ever shareholder climate 

resolution at a major 

European bank in 

December 2019

• 23.95% of votes supported the resolution at the Barclays AGM in May 2020

• Demonstrating clear shareholder backing for the bank to become net zero by 

2050

P
age 11



Responsible Investment Update 

Climate Change – Blackrock update and TCFD

• Following extensive engagement with Blackrock, we welcomed 

their public stance over voting against 53 companies and 

putting another 244 on ‘watch’ for inadequate action over 

climate risk

• TCFD could be embedded in UK pensions law

• Net Zero Framework – IIGCC project to pilot new tools to assess 

our portfolios’ alignment with climate goals 

Forging better futures
Public

P
age 12



Responsible Investment Update

Climate Change - Net Zero Investment Framework 

• The framework has been developed with over 70 global investors, 

representing more than $16 trillion, through the Institutional Investors 

Group on Climate Change (IIGCC)

• Aims to maximise investor contribution to decarbonisation, helping to keep global 

temperature rises below 1.5ºC

• Brunel are encouraging the industry to respond to the consultation phase

7
Forging better futures
Public

• Brunel is among a group of 5 investors 

that are testing the framework, by 

modelling the impact of real-world 

portfolios

P
age 13



Responsible Investment Update

COVID has created a spotlight on the ‘S’ of ESG

• Racial inequality – Talk About Black 

• Labour standards and modern human slavery 

• Workplace mental health

• We have been engaging across all of these topics, both directly 

with companies and through our asset managers, working 

collaboratively with other investors in the industry

Forging better futures
Public

P
age 14



Responsible Investment Update

Racial Inequality - Talk About Black

• Helen Price published a public blog on Talk About Black

• We are members of the Diversity Project and contributed to 
guidance around how asset owners can integrate diversity into the 
selection process

Forging better futures
Public

• We are seeking to improve the 
amount of data available around 
diversity and inclusion, working 
with data and engagement 
providers 

P
age 15



Responsible Investment Update

Migrant Labour and Modern 
Human Slavery 

Forging better futures
Public

The COVID pandemic has created a migrant 
labour crisis, particularly in the Middle East Alongside 38 other investors, 

comprising $3 trillion we have written 
to 54 companies who have operations 
in The Gulf, focusing on high risk 
sectors of hospitality, construction and 
oil and gas.

We are asking companies to:

• Engage independent specialists 
to perform exit interviews

• Commit to reimbursing 
recruitment fees and adopt the 
‘employer pays principle’

• Perform best practice due 
diligence on labour outsourcing 
companies

P
age 16



Responsible Investment Update

Workplace Mental Health 

• Before the pandemic, mental ill-health was 
costing UK employers £33-42 billion every year

• We wrote to all FTSE 100 companies alongside a 
coalition of investors with £2.2 trillion. 

• Urging companies to develop a specific ‘mental 
health during COVID-19 action plans’, with items 
such as:

• Training for all line managers on how to 
spot signs of poor mental health and assist 
vulnerable employees

• Increased flexibility in job design and 
performance appraisals

• Clear details for employees on how to 
access support

Forging better futures
Public

P
age 17



PRI Scorecard 

Responsible Investment Update

Brunel’s PRI Assessment

The full report is published on our website.

Forging better futures
Public

P
age 18



Responsible Investment Update

Forging better futures
Public

P
age 19



Time for your questions

Thank you for your time and attention.
Any questions?

Forging better futures 
Public

14

P
age 20



Disclaimer

This content is produced by Brunel Pension Partnership 
Limited. It is for the exclusive use of the recipient and is neither 
directed to, nor intended for distribution or use by, any person 
or entity who is a citizen or resident of or located in any locality, 
state, country or jurisdiction where distribution, publication, 
availability or use of this document would be contrary to law or 
regulation.
f

This content is provided for information purposes only and 
does not constitute an offer or a recommendation to buy or 
sell securities or financial instruments. It is not intended to be a 
substitute for the full documentation of the portfolios.
Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority 
No. 790168
f

Updated April 2018

Forging better futures 
Public

15

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Regulatory Changes  
 

Executive Summary 

 

  

• The outcome of the McCloud court case ruled that the transition protections given to older 

members when the 2008 LGPS final salary scheme closed are age discriminatory.  The remedy is 

to retrospectively apply the same protections to all members who were in the 2008 LGPS scheme 

on 31 March 2012.  This will result in a small increase in liabilities at Fund level of c£3m or 0.1%.  

Increases for some employers may be significantly higher.  The effort required to implement the 

remedy will be significant and it is estimated the project will take 2 years or more to complete.   

• The 2016 HMT cost management valuation process has recommenced and may result in changes 

to member benefits or member contribution rates. Any changes will be back dated to 1 April 2019.  

The 2020 HMT cost management valuation is expected to start shortly. 

• HMT have announced that an exit payment cap of £95,000 applying to all exits from public sector 

employers will be in place by the end of the year.  Exit payments include redundancy payments, 

severance payments and pension strain costs.  If the total value of such payments including 

strain costs exceeds the £95,000 cap then an employee’s pension will be reduced.  

• The Goodwin case is another discrimination case addressing discrimination of the grounds of 

sexual orientation.  Again, although the funding costs are small, this will be a further administration 

and communication burden to address. 

• The Government published a response to its consultation on “Changes to the valuation cycle and 

management of employer risk” on 26 August with changes to regulations coming into force on 23 

September 2020.  Administering Authorities will now have increased powers to review employer 

contribution rates between valuations and to enter into repayment plans with exiting employers. It 

also introduces a “deferred employer” status for employers, whilst also giving employers the power 

to request a review of their contribution rate.  

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



 

September 2020 002 
 

 

Addressee and purpose  

This paper has been commissioned by and is addressed to Gloucestershire County Council in its capacity as 

Administering Authority to the Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund (“the Fund”). It has been prepared 

by Hymans Robertson LLP (as Fund Actuary) to assist the Fund’s Pension Committee to understand the nature 

and impact of several recent changes to Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations on the Fund.   This 

paper should not be used for any other purpose or shared publicly without our written consent: if this is being 

included in a formal Pension Committee Meeting then we would ask this is included in the Restricted Part of the 

Meeting.  

Introduction 

This paper addresses both funding and administration issues raised by the following regulatory changes and 

processes. 

1 McCloud (funding implications and cost) changing members’ benefits retrospectively to April 2014 

2 Cost management valuations for 2016 and 2020, which have the potential to affect benefits also 

3 Proposed legislation on the £95k cap including some discussion on how it may impact on employer early 

retirement and redundancy strain calculations for some employers 

4 Goodwin ruling regarding equality of survivor benefits in same sex marriages again including the funding 

implications for your Fund and employers  

5 Changes taking effect from 23 September 2020 which give the Fund greater flexibility in amending 

employer contribution rates between valuations and on the employer ceasing to have any active members. 

  

Page 24



 

September 2020 003 
 

1 The McCloud judgement 

The cause: transitional protections 

One feature of the reform of all public sector pension schemes in the first half of the 2010s was the commitment 

to protect older members. For the LGPS, this protection was transitional and took the form of an underpin.  From 

1 April 2014, an eligible member would receive the better of benefits earned under the old  2008 scheme (60ths 

accrual, final salary, retirement age of 65) or the new 2014 scheme (49ths accrual, Career Average Revalued 

Earnings (CARE), retirement age equal to the (increasing) State Pension Age). 

The format of the protections differed between public sector pension schemes, however they were all uniform in 

applying the eligibility criteria – the protections would only be applicable to members who were: 

• active in the scheme as at 31 March 2012; 

• within 10 years of their Normal Retirement Age (as defined under the pre-reform scheme rules, 65 in the 

LGPS) as at 1 April 2012. 

Who benefits from the underpin? 

A summary of the benefit changes introduced in 2014 are shown below: 

 Final Salary scheme CARE scheme Impact 

Accrual rate 1/60th 1/49th Increase of 22% 

Revaluation rate Salary increases Consumer Price Index Depends on an 

individual’s salary growth 

Retirement age 65 State Pension Age (SPA) Decrease for members 

where SPA is after 65 

Due to the significant increase in benefit being earned each year through the increased accrual rate, a member 

would only benefit from the underpin if salary increases throughout their working life outweighed the additional 

22% of CARE benefit (revalued in line with CPI) that had been earned each year.  

The challenge 

In 2016/17, members of the Judicial Pension Scheme (including one member named McCloud) brought a claim of 

age discrimination against the Ministry of Justice (MOJ) due to the imposition of the transitional protections.  The 

members contested that, by applying the protections only to those members within 10 years of retirement at 

March 2012, younger members of the scheme were at a disadvantage.   

The Ministry of Justice conceded that the protections did put younger members at a disadvantage, however they 

argued that this treatment was justified.  The justification being that the members in scope of the protections 

would likely already have made advanced plans for financing their retirement and any change to their pension 

scheme may adversely affect these plans. 

A separate but similar challenge was also launched by a member of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme. 

The Employment Tribunal found against the MOJ and the members’ complaints were upheld. 

  

Page 25



 

September 2020 004 
 

This original decision was appealed by the Government until it reached the Court of Appeal for consideration in 

November 2018.  On 20 December 2018, the Court of Appeal ruled that: 

• the Government’s appeal was to be dismissed; and  

• the claim of discrimination of the grounds of age is valid. 

Following on from this ruling, in the first half of 2019 the Government sought leave to appeal this ruling at the 

Supreme Court.  However, in June 2019, the Supreme Court refused the Government’s application to appeal, 

meaning that the Court of Appeal’s decision was final. 

Following the Court of Appeal’s decision at the end of 2018, in January 2019 the decision was been taken by the 

Government to suspend the ongoing Cost Cap valuations1.  Further detail about the Cost Cap valuation, its 

interaction with McCloud and impact on funding is contained later in this note. 

After the Supreme Court confirmed they would not hear the Government’s appeal, in July 2019, the Government 

accepted2 that the protections put in place were discriminatory and committed to remedying the situation.  The 

court cases to date were only in respect of the Judicial and Firefighters’ Pension Schemes. However, the 

Government accepted that the ruling would, if tested, also apply to all other public sector pension schemes which 

implemented age-based transitional protections during the reform process. This includes the LGPS. 

Since then, discussions have been taking place to assess how best to resolve the discriminatory elements of the 

benefit structure (what has now become commonly referred to as “finding a solution” to “McCloud” or “the 

McCloud judgement”).  It is not a viable option to entirely remove the transitional protections as that would involve 

reducing the accrued rights of some members (i.e. those eligible for the original protections and who would have 

benefitted, via higher benefits, from the existence of the protections).  Therefore, the discussions have been 

focussed on how to adequately “level up”.  

Remedy 

On 16th July 2020 MHCLG published consultation documents3 setting out detailed proposals for addressing the 

discrimination.  The consultation process closes on 8 October.  Hymans Robertson have already published our 

response to the consultation which can be found at the link below4.   

In summary, the proposed remedy extends the ‘transitional protections’ underpin (that was promised to active 

members in 2012 who were within 10 years of normal retirement age) to other active members, regardless of age. 

The underpin gives the member the better of CARE or final salary benefits for the eligible period of service.  

In general terms, the key features of the underpin are: 

• Eligibility is restricted to members who were active in the LGPS on 31 March 2012 and have accrued 

benefits since 1 April 2014;  

  

 
1 https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-
statement/Commons/2019-01-30/HCWS1286/ 
2 https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-
statement/Commons/2019-07-15/HCWS1725/ 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-pension-scheme-amendments-to-the-statutory-
underpin  

4 https://www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/Hymans_Robertson_McCloud_Consultation_Response.pdf 

Page 26

https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2019-01-30/HCWS1286/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2019-01-30/HCWS1286/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2019-07-15/HCWS1725/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2019-07-15/HCWS1725/
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Flocal-government-pension-scheme-amendments-to-the-statutory-underpin&data=02%7C01%7Ccatherine.mcfadyen%40hymans.co.uk%7Cbb14017311fe43e3664508d82999892a%7Ca2276d23b28149629c993c5c8d9895c5%7C0%7C0%7C637305086690231541&sdata=iWkrS8gmdvfk39P96yX6z%2FCrWQwGypIuuzDah1HPgXg%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Flocal-government-pension-scheme-amendments-to-the-statutory-underpin&data=02%7C01%7Ccatherine.mcfadyen%40hymans.co.uk%7Cbb14017311fe43e3664508d82999892a%7Ca2276d23b28149629c993c5c8d9895c5%7C0%7C0%7C637305086690231541&sdata=iWkrS8gmdvfk39P96yX6z%2FCrWQwGypIuuzDah1HPgXg%3D&reserved=0


 

September 2020 005 
 

• The underpin period applies between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2022, but ceases when the member 

leaves active membership or dies in service (note that ‘underpin period’ means the period of service for 

which the underpin applies – the underpin itself is not formally calculated until a member leaves active 

service through any means, in the same way that pre-2014 service is still linked to final salary as long as 

the member remains in active service);  

• The final salary for comparison purposes applies at the point that the member leaves active status or 

reaches age 65; and  

• The normal pension age for CARE benefits can be after the normal pension age for final salary benefits.  

The underpin requires the impact of any applied actuarial reductions to be considered in assessing which 

benefit is higher.   

The changes will be retrospective and will apply to anyone who has left, retired or died and who didn’t meet the 

old underpin criteria but meets the new one. In some cases, this will mean retrospectively recalculating benefits 

for pensioners, and paying arrears and interest.  

There is significant complexity in the detail of how the underpin will apply: the consultation addresses the topics of 

early leavers, deaths in service, early and late retirements, ill health retirements, members with multiple posts, 

breaks in service and aggregations of service across different LGPS employments, transfers between public 

sector schemes,  annual allowance tax implications, and the requirement to include information on the underpin 

on members’ annual benefit statements. 

Impact on funding and employer costs 

At whole fund level, we don’t expect the McCloud remedy to have a significant impact on the funding position and 

hence on employer costs.  

Based on typical LGPS funding assumptions, we estimate that total liabilities could increase by c.0.2% (or by 

0.6% of active liabilities), equivalent to around £0.5bn across the whole of the English & Welsh LGPS. This 

estimate is significantly less than the £2.5bn quoted in the LGPS consultation. This difference is due to a 

combination of factors, with the pay growth assumption being a crucial one for the reason set out above. The 

Government estimate uses CPI +2.2% pa which is significantly higher than that used by a typical LGPS fund.   

For your Fund, the pay growth assumption is CPI + 0.3%, which is slightly below a “typical” assumption and 

hence places a yet lower cost on the McCloud remedy (because it implies the final salary benefit underpin is even 

less likely to apply). Based on this we estimate that the McCloud underpin may add 0.1% to the Gloucestershire 

Fund liabilities. 

Whilst at whole scheme level the impact is small, it may be material at individual employer level. This is where the 

LGPS differs from the other public sector schemes - everything is funded at employer level and contributions can 

and do vary materially across the employers in the Fund.  

The variation in McCloud underpin impact arises due to differing membership profiles, and particularly age. 

Younger members will have a longer period of salary increases compared to older members (especially once 

promotional increases are considered, which tend to be higher at younger ages). There is therefore a higher 

likelihood that the underpin ‘bites’ for younger members. Our modelling suggests that some employers may see 

their total liabilities increase by as much as 0.7% whilst other employers will see no impact at all. There is also the 

potential for one-off events which may result in an impact greater than noted above, for example, an employer 

with only one member who is awarded a significant pay increase. It is worth noting that introduction of the 

underpin to all eligible members, and the fact that the link to final salary will be retained up until the member 

retires, means that another source of volatility and uncertainty is introduced into the funding of LGPS benefits. We 

may see employer’s funding positions and contribution rates changing by larger amounts between valuations 

because of this factor. 

Page 27



 

September 2020 006 
 

Formal valuation approach 

The LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) asked funds and actuaries to allow for McCloud costs at the 2019 

valuation in England and Wales when setting funding strategies. For this Fund, we increased the required 

likelihood of achieving full funding for employers to build in an additional margin to cover the uncertainty resulting 

from McCloud costs.  The approach taken to allow for the uncertainty caused by McCloud is set out in Section 2.7 

of the Funding Strategy Statement. 

Administration impact of McCloud 

Despite the relatively small liability impact of the McCloud ruling, the administration impact will be significant. In 

conjunction with key stakeholders, the Fund will have to initiate and deliver a project to adjust member’s records 

to reflect the new underpin and to correct any benefits which have already come into payment. 

This project will take many months, and potentially years of effort depending on the membership affected. Key 

stages will include: 

Understanding McCloud and establishing a project plan 

The key outcomes from this stage will be to identify who is going to be working on the project, the key 

stakeholders and ensuring that they have the right level of knowledge.  This stage would be expected to last until 

after the consultation process concludes and some outstanding policy decisions have been made. The UK 

Government have indicated that final Regulations may not be available until 2022/23 but have urged Funds to 

begin work in the interim. 

Identifying cases 

Cases in scope then need to be identified using the key criteria set out in the consultation.  Hymans Robertson 

analysis suggests that in most funds around 20 -25% of members are impacted. We would strongly suggest that 

work should commence to identify the groups and employers of members impacted within this Fund.   

Adjusting records   

Member records need to have the correct information to enable an underpin calculation to be completed. This is 

one of the most challenging areas of the project and for most Funds will involve significant engagement with 

employers to gather salary and working hours data back-dated from 1 April 2014.  We understand that your 

pension manager, Alan Marshall, has continued to collect this data despite there being no requirement for the 

purposes of administering CARE benefits.  This should prove to be significantly beneficial to the Fund in the early 

stages of managing this project.    

Where data is not available, there will be a need for policy decisions on how to approach situations where it isn’t 

possible to complete the data record but the Fund must ensure the members’ benefits are calculated accurately 

and the underpin applied fairly.  The data specification for employers will have to be changed in order to ensure 

the correct data is captured within future processes.  

Recalculation of benefits 

When the data is sourced for identified cases, the members’ benefits will need to be re-calculated.  For members 

still in service, or those who have left the Fund before retirement, their accrued pension may have changed and 

their annual benefit statement may need to be adjusted.  There may be annual allowance tax implications for 

some members. Some of these calculations will be complex as a result of some of the issues mentioned above. 

Liaison with system providers is underway to specify changes required to the administration software to support 

the recalculation processes and ongoing requirements to assess the underpin. Early indications are that it may 

take around 12 months for administration providers to fully develop the calculation routines required. 

  

Page 28



 

September 2020 007 
 

Calculate arrears and interest and then pay arrears 

Arrears and interest payments may be due for some members whose benefits are already in payment, if the 

McCloud underpin would have resulted in a different pension for these members.  In some cases where benefits 

are changing there may also be tax charges for members.  The tax implications of these proposals are complex 

as members who would not have breached annual allowance under the CARE scheme may breach annual 

allowance if they become eligible for an underpin. 

Final record adjustment to both the administration and payroll record if applicable 

Finally, the member administration and payroll records will need to be updated with the calculated position and 

this must be maintained going forward. 

Audit check and Stakeholders 

There is a significant list of stakeholders who will be involved in the project including current and former 

employees, their dependants, fund employers, your actuary, your administrator, pensions committee and board, 

MHCLG and Treasury departments, SAB and others. Different stakeholders require different levels of involvement 

at the different stages of the project but communication across all groups about progress, issues and outcomes 

and costs will be vital. Given the complexity of the project checking and audit processes will also have to be 

robust. 

Project management 

The size and complexity of this project means that it will also require proportionate project management resource 

and expertise. 

McCloud summary 

Remedying the discrimination identified by the McCloud judgment will be a significant undertaking for the Fund’s 

administration team. We expect further updates to be provided to Pensions Committee in due course.   

  

Page 29



 

September 2020 008 
 

2 Cost Management Valuations 2016 and 2020  

In addition to McCloud, the “Cost Management Valuations” are an ongoing national process which are resulting in 

current uncertainty around the benefit structure of the LGPS. These valuations were similarly borne out of the 

public service pension reform in the early 2010s.  

Background 

As part of the reforms discussed earlier in this note, a “Cost Cap” mechanism was put in place which sought to 

put in a safety valve and protect employers from significant increases in future pension costs and to support the 

long-term sustainability of a defined benefit pension offering.   

Historically, any variations in pension costs fell to the employer to fund as both benefits earned and employee 

contributions were defined in the Regulations. The cost mechanism sought to re-distribute the risk and share any 

cost variations with members. Prior to this mechanism being introduced, employer contributions had been on an 

upwards trend across a number of valuation cycles.  

This mechanism works on the basis that every 3 or 4 years (the frequency varies between public sector pension 

schemes), a valuation at national LGPS level will be carried out by the Government Actuary’s Department on 

behalf of Treasury to assess the overall cost of pension provision.  The assessed cost will then be compared 

against a benchmark cost, and if the difference is equivalent to more than 2% of pay, then action will be taken to 

amend the benefit structure and/or employee contribution rates such that the current cost matches the benchmark 

cost.  If the variation is less than 2% of pay then no action is taken.  

This valuation is carried out on a set of assumptions set by HMT, and differ from those used for the purposes of 

your formal valuation to set employer contributions. One of the key features of the Cost Management valuation is 

that it limits the factors for inclusion to those that have an impact on the benefit received by a member.  Critically, 

it makes no allowance investment returns earned on assets.  

 

The mechanism was originally intended to act as a capping mechanism on costs i.e. action would only be taken if 

costs were higher than expected.  However, during the reform implementation, the mechanism was amended to a 

symmetrical design i.e. there would be not only a cap but also a floor on cost.  Therefore, if costs were less than 

expected, then action would be taken to improve the benefit structure to restore the cost to its benchmark level. In 

essence, the Cost “Cap” became Cost “Management”.   

Page 30



 

September 2020 009 
 

SAB Cost Management Process 

Alongside the Treasury Cost Management process (TCM)  described above, the LGPS in England and Wales 

also has a SAB Cost Management process (SCM).  The SCM is carried out ahead of the TCM and takes into 

account different factors from the TCM, including factors which are unique to the LGPS. Importantly, any change 

in benefits as a result of the outcome of the SCM process is allowed for within the TCM.  

The SCM also works slightly differently in how it may implement amendments to benefits if the costs of the 

scheme have moved.  

• A movement of between 0% and 1% from the target in either direction may result in agreed 

recommendations for action to move back to the target.  

• A movement of between 1% and 2% from the target in either direction should result in agreed 

recommendations for action to move back to the target. 

• A movement of 2% or more from the target in either direction must result in agreed recommendations for 

action to move back to the target.  

By contrast, for the TCM mechanism, no corrective action will be required to move the costs back to the target 

unless there is a movement of 2% or more from the target in either direction.  This gives SAB the opportunity to 

make a small change in the benefit structure during the SCM to avoid a larger change being triggered by the TCM 

process. 

The first Cost Management valuations were carried out as at 31 March 2016 and initial results communicated in 

Autumn/Winter 2018.  Early indications were that the cost of the scheme had fallen as a result of falling 

improvements in life expectancy and lower than expected pay growth. The SCM process reported a scheme cost 

reduction of around 1% of pay and the TCM process was expected to report a reduction in excess of 2% of pay 

below target therefore requiring future benefit improvements.  

The SCM process therefore proposed benefit improvements of around 1% of pay, mainly involving changes to 

employee contributions. It was expected that after these benefit improvements were implemented no further 

action would be needed by the TCM process as their assessment of the scheme cost would be restored within 

the 2% of pay buffer. 

These changes were due to be come into force under the relevant regulations by 1 April 2019. 

Interaction with McCloud 

Whilst the Government was dealing with the emerging Cost Management results, they also learnt of the Court of 

Appeal’s ruling in the McCloud case. 

It was the Government’s opinion that any increase in benefits due to McCloud should be factored into the ongoing 

Cost Management valuations.  Given that the McCloud remedy will result in an increase in pension costs, it may 

be of such a magnitude that the cost saving identified at the Cost Management valuations reduces to less than 

2% of pay when assessed using their approach.  If this were to be the case then no action would be needed to 

amend benefits from 1 April 2019. (Note that at this stage we are unable to say how likely this outcome is). 

Therefore, the Government announced in January 2019 that the Cost Management valuation process would be 

put on hold until McCloud was resolved.  After the resolution, the Cost Management valuations would be restarted 

and, if any added non-McCloud changes are required to be made to benefits or contributions, then they would be 

backdated to 1 April 2019. 

Page 31



 

September 2020 010 
 

Legal challenge 

The action by Government to suspend the implementation of scheme changes as a result of the Cost 

Management valuations has recently been challenged by four Unions (Fire Brigades Union, Public and 

Commercial Services Union, the Professional Trades Union for Prison, Correctional & Secure Psychiatric 

Workers and the GMB Union).  In April 2020, these Unions have filed court proceedings against the UK 

Government arguing that the suspension breaches the Cost Management regulations (which states benefits 

changes must come into force from 1 April 2019)5. 

The challenge also effectively asserts the Unions’ belief that the costs associated with resolving McCloud sit 

outside the Cost Management mechanism. 

The case is still ongoing; however, on 16th July 2020 the Treasury announced that the Cost Management 

processes for the LGPS will be re-started assuming that the McCloud costs are included in the calculations. 

The future of the Cost Management 

The results of the 2016 Cost Management valuation were likely to have been unexpected when agreeing to 

implement a symmetrical design. The rigid regulations that were put in place gave the Government no option but 

to implement benefit increases following the publication of the 2016 Cost Management valuation results. It is also 

worth noting that in the absence of agreement on the proposed benefit increases, the default approach is to 

increase the accrual rate to restore the scheme cost to the benchmark level.   

For many public service schemes, an increase to future benefits was announced at the same time as an increase 

to employer contributions (which arose due to a change in the HMT valuation assumptions).  

In light of the unexpected 2016 results, the Government confirmed in September 20186 (when the first initial 

results started to emerge) that the whole Cost Management mechanism will be reviewed ahead of the next round 

of Cost Management valuations (due to take place as at 31 March 2020) to ascertain whether it still meets the 

policy intent.  

However, until such a review has been completed, existing legislation requires that the next round of Cost 

Management valuations should also take place.  We understand that data will be requested from Funds for the 

2020 Cost Management valuation in Autumn 2020. 

  

 
5 https://www.fbu.org.uk/news/2020/04/25/firefighters-take-government-court-over-pension-
%E2%80%98robbery%E2%80%99 
6 https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2018-09-
06/debates/18090633000015/PublicServicePensionSchemesQuadrennialValuations 

Page 32

https://www.fbu.org.uk/news/2020/04/25/firefighters-take-government-court-over-pension-%E2%80%98robbery%E2%80%99
https://www.fbu.org.uk/news/2020/04/25/firefighters-take-government-court-over-pension-%E2%80%98robbery%E2%80%99
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2018-09-06/debates/18090633000015/PublicServicePensionSchemesQuadrennialValuations
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2018-09-06/debates/18090633000015/PublicServicePensionSchemesQuadrennialValuations


 

September 2020 011 
 

3 Public Sector Exit Payments  

The government first announced plans to cap exit payments in the public sector in 2015. In other words, an 

employee leaving a public sector employer would have a limit on the amount of their leaving package. On 10 April 

2019 HM Treasury (HMT) launched a consultation on draft regulations, guidance and Directions to implement the 

cap. HMT published its response to the consultation7 on 21 July 2020. 

Exit Payments £95k Cap 

The cap will apply to all public sector employers. The exit payment cap is set at a total of £95,000 with no 

provision for this amount to be index-linked. Exit payments include redundancy payments (including statutory 

redundancy payments), severance payments, pension strain costs – which arise when an LGPS pension is paid 

unreduced before a member’s normal pension age – and other payments made as a consequence of termination 

of employment. Although statutory redundancy is included as an exit payment it cannot be reduced. If the cap is 

exceeded, other elements that make up the exit payment must be reduced to achieve an exit payment of £95,000 

or less.   

Regulations provide for the cap to come into force 21 days after they are made. However, the regulations are 

subject to the affirmative procedure so will need to be approved by both Houses of Parliament before they can be 

made. We understand it is the intention that the cap will be in force for the end of the 2020 calendar year.   

Applying the cap in the LGPS 

The major impact of the regulations will be on LGPS members aged 55 or over who currently qualify for an 

unreduced pension because of redundancy or efficiency retirement as well as a severance payment under The 

Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2006.8 We understand that changes to those regulations will prevent the payment of severance in 

addition to a pension strain cost. Not only will a severance payment no longer be payable but if a pension strain 

payment cannot be made in full because of the cap, then the member’s pension would be reduced. 

Pension strain cost 

Currently the pension strain cost that an employer pays on the early retirement or redundancy of a member over 

the age of 55 is calculated at a local fund level using factors provided by your actuary which reflect your local 

funding assumptions.   These factors were most recently reviewed following the 2019 valuation process.  These 

factors are intended to reflect the difference in cost arising to the Fund as result of paying full benefits sooner than 

expected and therefore for a longer period of years.  The local approach to calculating the strain could mean that 

members in different LGPS funds with the same accrued pension may have a different strain cost to take into 

account in the calculation of the exit payment limit and hence a different reduction.  Therefore, MHCLG have 

asked the Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) to produce standardised factors for use in these calculations. 

This will result in equity between members in different funds but will lead to less accurate assessments of the 

strain costs for the employers and could result in employers paying less in strain costs at the time of exit.  Any 

shortfalls will feed into an employer’s position at the next triennial valuation and may result in contribution 

increases at that time. 

How much are pension strain costs? 

GAD have not yet published the factors to be used in these calculations so we cannot yet assess with certainty 

the pension strain amounts.  However, using current strain factors for a typical Fund, some case studies are 

shown below, noting that in all four cases the member’s LGPS pension would be a similar amount (broadly 

£15,000 p.a.).   

 
7 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/restricting-exit-payments-in-the-public-sector 
8 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/2914/contents/made 

Page 33



 

September 2020 012 
 

Member A B C D 

Salary £30,000 £45,000 £90,000 £150,000 

Exit Age 55 55 60 64 

Service 30 years 20 years 10 years 6 years 

Early retirement 

pension strain 

£112,000 £112,000  £58,000 £12,000 

 

Implementation Issues 

Although this policy was first announced back in 2015, there is now a very short timeframe for implementation 

and for the required changes to Regulations to be made.    Any member leaving from an employer subject to the 

cap, after the end of the year, will have to have the employer strain cost calculated using the new standardised 

strain factors when available and members’ pensions reduced as appropriate.  As a result, it will be difficult to 

provide redundancy cost estimates to employers over the next few months. 

There will now be two different processes for early retirements:  

1 for employers such as councils and academies who must apply the public sector exit cap and  

2 for employers such as housing associations who are outside of the public sector exit cap, whose members 

are still entitled to benefits unreduced regardless of the strain cost.  

Future Options 

We understand that MHCLG is looking at options to introduce choice for members to take a deferred benefit 

rather than a reduced pension, together with guidance on the calculation of standardised strain costs and a 

member option to purchase the shortfall. While this would support member choice it would add further complexity.  

Any changes to LGPS regulations would be subject to a further consultation. 

  

Page 34



 

September 2020 013 
 

4 Goodwin ruling 

The Goodwin tribunal was raised in the Teacher’s scheme.  It claimed members, or their survivors, were 

discriminated against due to their sexual orientation.  The claim was because the Teacher’s scheme provides a 

survivor’s pension which is less favourable for a widower or surviving male partner, than for a widow or surviving 

female partner of a female scheme member.  On 30 June 2020, the Tribunal found in favour of the claimant and 

agreed there was discrimination. 

This finding and remedy is expected to apply across all public service pension schemes, including the LGPS. The 

diagram below illustrates the inequality. 

 

 

The first case considers a male member who entered into their partnership/marriage with their spouse or partner 

after leaving active status.  All of this member’s service from 1978 until retirement would count towards the 

calculation of the survivor’s pension. 

The second case considers a female member who entered into their partnership/marriage with their male spouse 

or partner after leaving active status.  Even if they had identical service histories to the male member in the first 

case, the survivor’s pension would only be based on service from 1988 until they retired if they entered into their 

partnership or marriage after leaving active employment.  This was viewed as unfair and female members were 

given an option to purchase the “missing service” to uplift their dependant’s benefit. 

However, in 2005, following on from the Walker case, the definition of spouse in the Regulations was expanded to 

include same sex relationships.  In effect, from 2005, if a female member had a female spouse or partner and 

their partnership/marriage was after they left active status, all their service since 1978 counted towards their 

survivor’s pension and they weren’t required to pay additional contributions to benefit from this uplift.  Therefore, 

the tribunal found discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation. 

Remedy  

A group of members, namely females who have a male survivor, may have their survivor’s pension uplifted to 

include any service accrued between 1978 and 1988. 

In order to administer this all post-2005 deaths of female members will need to be investigated.  In some 

circumstances, the Fund may not have any data on survivors or their whereabouts which could prove to be a 

significant challenge.  This would be an unwelcome burden alongside McCloud activity. 

  

Page 35



 

September 2020 014 
 

For employers, the impact is likely to be a small increase in their liabilities.  Following Hymans Robertson analysis 

for a typical Fund these increases are estimated to be: 

 Increase in Pensioner liability Increase in Deferred liability 

Overall increase for Fund 0.4% 0.1% 

Worst employer increase 3.9% 1.0% 

Proportion of employers with an 

increase greater than 0.1% 

18% 72% 

In a similar way to McCloud, the impact is largely administrative rather than on pension scheme funding but the 

funding increase could be significant at employer level depending on membership profile.  

  

Page 36



 

September 2020 015 
 

5 Regulation changes to support management of employer risk 

 

In May 2019, MHCLG launched its consultation “Local Government Pension Scheme: Changes to the Local 

Valuation Cycle and the Management of Employer Risk”.  The consultation sought views in the following areas: 

a) Changes to the LGPS local fund valuation cycle 

b) Increased flexibility for Funds to carry out interim valuations and/or review employer contributions between 

formal valuations 

c) Proposals for flexibility around employer cessation debts 

d) Proposals for policy changes for payments of employer exit credits 

e) Potential changes to employers required to offer LGPS membership.  

The outcome of the exit credit consultation (d) was published in February this year.  The Fund now has a policy 

on repayment of exit credits. There has been no update on changes to the valuation cycle proposals (a) or to the 

employers who are required to offer LGPS access (e).  

The response published in August 20209 dealt with items (b) and (c), with Regulation changes coming into force 

on 23 September 2020, allow the Fund to recalculate employer contributions in the following circumstances: 

• There has been a significant change to the liabilities of an employer 

• There has been a significant change in the employer’s covenant 

• At the request of the employer.  

This publication also allows greater flexibility around managing the exit of an employer from the Fund. On exit 

from the Fund, where the employer is in deficit, the following options are available: 

• The Employer pays a full cessation payment carried out in line with regulation 64(4) of the 2013 LGPS 

Regulations 

• The Fund can agree a repayment schedule with an employer to allow them to spread the exit payment over 

a number of years 

• Enter into a Deferred Debt Arrangement (DDA) where an employer can continue in the Fund with no active 

members but continue to pay secondary contributions as determined at formal valuations.   An employer 

entering into this arrangement would be known as a “deferred employer”.  

 Whilst many Funds have entered into these arrangements, these are now supported by the regulations.  

The Fund’s officers will be working with the Fund’s actuaries to consider our own policy on these new freedoms 

and will report back to Pensions Committee in due course.  

 

  

 
9 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/911792/Gover
nment_response_Exit_payments_and_review_employer_contributions.pdf 

Page 37

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/911792/Government_response_Exit_payments_and_review_employer_contributions.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/911792/Government_response_Exit_payments_and_review_employer_contributions.pdf


 

September 2020 016 
 

Summary and Next Steps 

This paper highlights several important regulatory changes that will directly impact both members and employers 

over the coming months.  Together, they represent a significant challenge to Fund administration processes and 

bandwidth, especially given the challenges of the current working environment.  The Fund will have to consider 

how to manage this change program including: 

• Project planning and management; 

• Stakeholder communications; 

• Resource requirement; 

• Risk management; and 

• Appropriate audit and oversight.  

We would be pleased to provide further information or support on any of the topics mentioned above. 

Reliances, limitations and professional notes  

This paper should not be released or disclosed to any third party without our prior consent. Hymans Robertson 

LLP accepts no liability to any other party unless we have expressly accepted such liability. 

This report complies proportionately with the relevant Technical Actuarial Standards set out below: 

• TAS 100 (Principles of Technical Actuarial Work); and 

• TAS 300 (Pensions). 

 

Julie West FFA 

Fund Actuary 

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

3 September 2020 

Page 38



 

    
                                         
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council 

Pension Fund 

Funding and risk report as at 30 June 2020 
_____ 
 

 

Summary  

This funding update is provided to illustrate the estimated development of the funding position from 31 March 2019 to 

30 June 2020, for the Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund (“the Fund”).  It is addressed to Gloucestershire 

County Council in its capacity as the Administering Authority of the Fund and has been prepared in my capacity as 

your actuarial adviser. 

At the last formal valuation the Fund assets were £2,379m and the liabilities were £2,338m.  This represents a surplus 

of £41m and equates to a funding level of 102%.  Since the valuation the funding level has decreased by c5% to 

97.0% as detailed in the table above. 

This report has been produced exclusively for the Administering Authority.  This report must not be copied to any third 

party without our prior written consent. 

Should you have any queries please contact me. 

 

Julie West FFA 

H
E

A
D

L
IN

E
 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

    
                                         
 
 
 

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 P

O
S

IT
IO

N
 

 

Funding Level Table 
 

 

Analysis of Surplus Table 
 

 

 

Page 40



 

    
                                         
 
 
 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 41



 

    
                                         
 
 
 

A
S

S
E

T
S

 A
N

D
 R

IS
K

S
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 42



 

    
                                         
 
 
 

  

Reliances and limitations 
This report was commissioned by and is addressed to Gloucestershire County Council in their capacity as the Administering Authority and is provided to 

assist in monitoring certain funding and investment metrics. It should not be used for any other purpose. It should not be released or otherwise disclosed 

to any third party except as required by law or with our prior written consent, in which case it should be released in its entirety. Decisions should not be 

taken based on the information herein without written advice from your consultant. Neither I nor Hymans Robertson LLP accept any liability to 

any other party unless we have expressly accepted such liability in writing. 

The method and assumptions used to calculate the updated funding position are consistent with those disclosed in the documents associated with the 

last formal actuarial valuation, although the financial assumptions have been updated to reflect known changes in market conditions. The calculations 

contain approximations and the accuracy of this type of funding update declines with time from the valuation; differences between the position shown in 

this report and the position which a new valuation would show can be significant. It is not possible to assess its accuracy without carrying out a full 

actuarial valuation. This update complies with Technical Actuarial Standard 100. 

 

Page 43



 

    
                                         
 
 
 

 Funding Level Table 

 Funding Level Table 

 Analysis of Surplus Table 

 Funding Level Progression Chart 

 GLOS LGPS 2019v Vita Basis 3-14 

 June 2020 

 Scheme 

 scheme 

Page 44



Pension Committee
25th September 2020

Exit Credit Policy
 
1.1 Regulation 64 (2) of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 
requires the Administering Authority to obtain a cessation valuation from the fund 
actuary for any employer exiting the fund. 

1.2 The LGPS Regulations were amended in May 2018 which required Administering 
Authorities to pay a cessation funding surplus to any employer that exited the fund. 
Prior to 2018, there was no ability to refund a cessation surplus.
 
1.3 This change caused problems for some LGPS funds, as some employers (not 
within the Gloucestershire Fund) were deliberately ending service contracts early and 
leaving the fund just so they could receive payment of the funding surplus. In some 
cases this amounted to millions of pounds. 

1.4 This issue was further complicated where there was an element of pension cost 
sharing agreed between the admitted body and the scheme employer, which reduced 
the risk to the admitted body. Despite this, under the regulations amended in May 
2018, the full surplus would still be paid to the admitted body.

1.5 To address this issue, amending regulations were therefore introduced in March 
2020 with retrospective effect to May 2018. These amendments created a discretion 
for the Administering Authority to determine the amount of funding surplus that could 
be payable to an employer exiting the fund. This allows consideration to be given to 
any cost sharing arrangements that the exiting employer benefitted from whilst 
participating in the fund. 

1.6 The new Regulations state that when determining the amount of exiting surplus, 
the Administering Authority must have regard to: 

 The extent to which there is an excess of assets in the fund relating to the 
exiting employer over the liabilities 

 The proportion of this excess which has arisen because of the value of the 
employer’s contributions 

 Any representations made by the exiting employer and any guarantor 

 Any other relevant factors 

1.7 In order to be fully transparent, and to ensure that all employers exiting the fund 
are treated in an equitable way, the actuary to the Gloucestershire Fund, working 
with officers have produced an exit credit policy, which is attached as Appendix 1.

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



1.8 If approved by the Committee this policy will be followed in determining whether 
an exit credit payment is due and, if so, to which employers the exit credit will be 
paid to, and how much will be paid. 

1.9 No exit credit will be payable in respect of admission bodies who joined the Fund 
before 14 May 2018.  Prior to this date, the payment of an exit credit was not 
permitted under the Regulations and this will have been reflected in the commercial 
terms agreed between the admission body and the letting authority.

1.10 Where an exit credit payment is due, the actuary will be asked to advise on the 
level of the exit credit to be paid taking into account the total amount of employer 
contributions paid by the employer since it joined the Fund. The actuary will also be 
asked to advise as to whether, in their opinion, the credit should be paid to one 
employer or be shared between employers in accordance with the policy. 

Recommendation

That the Committee approves the Exit Credit policy.

Contact Officer

Paul Blacker – Director of Finance (01452 328999)

Page 46



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund 

September 2020 001
D:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\0\9\9\AI00029990\$HZOPC3VI.DOCX

Exit Credit Policy
The below sets out the general guidelines that the Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund (“the Fund”) will 
follow when determining the amount of an exit credit payable to a ceasing employer in line with Regulation 64 of 
the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (“the Regulations”), as amended from time to time.  

Background
Following a revision to the Regulations in May 2018 permitting payment of an exit credit to an employer, the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (“MHCLG”) issued a consultation to address concerns 
that the change in Regulations had resulted in employers becoming entitled to an exit credit which did not reflect 
the level of risk they were exposed to during their participation in the LGPS Fund. 

The outcome of that consultation was a further revision to Regulation 64, back-dated to May 2018, allowing the 
administering authority to exercise its discretion in the payment of an exit credit. 

The Regulations state that “The administering authority must have regard to the following factors

 the extent to which there is an excess of assets in the fund relating to that employer over the liabilities 
specified in paragraph (2)(a);

 the proportion of this excess of assets which has arisen because of the value of the employer’s 
contributions;

 any representations to the administering authority made by the exiting employer and, where that 
employer participates in the scheme by virtue of an admission agreement, any body listed in paragraphs 
(8)(a) to (d)(iii) of Part 3 to Schedule 2 to these Regulations; and

 any other relevant factors.”

Fund’s approach
This policy sets out the ways in which the Fund will exercise its discretion in the payment of an exit credit, and in 
particular the other relevant factors that will be considered in the payment of an exit credit as stated by the 
Regulations. 

Please note that these are guidelines only and the Fund will also consider any other additional factors that are 
relevant on a case-by-case basis.  These considerations may result in a determination that would be different if 
the below guidelines were rigorously adhered to.  In all cases, the Fund will make clear its reasoning for any 
decision.

General considerations
The Fund will consider the source of a surplus when determining the exit credit.  In particular the Fund may 
exercise its discretion in the amount of surplus that would be payable where the surplus has arisen as a result of 
individual membership transfers between employers.  

Admitted bodies
a) No exit credit will be payable in respect of admission bodies who joined the Fund before 14 May 2018.  

Prior to this date, the payment of an exit credit was not permitted under the Regulations and this will have 
been reflected in the commercial terms agreed between the admission body and the letting authority. This 
will also apply to any pre-14 May 2018 admission which has been extended or ‘rolled over’ on the same 
terms that applied on joining the Fund.

Page 47



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund 

September 2020 002
D:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\0\9\9\AI00029990\$HZOPC3VI.DOCX

b) The Fund will make an exit credit payment in line with any contractual or risk sharing agreements which 
specifically covers the ownership of exit credits/cessation surpluses or if the admission body and letting 
authority have agreed any alternative approach (which is consistent with the Regulations and any other 
legal obligations).  This information, which will include which party is responsible for which funding risk, 
must be presented to the Fund in a clear and unambiguous document with the agreement of both the 
admission body and the letting authority and within one month of the admission body ceasing 
participation in the Fund.

c) If there is any dispute from either party with regards interpretation of contractual or risk sharing 
agreements as outlined in b), the Fund will withhold payment of the exit credit until such disputes are 
resolved.

d) The Fund will also consider any representations made by the letting authority regarding monies owed to 
them by the admission body in respect of the contract that is ceasing or any other contractual 
arrangement between the two parties.  The letting authority must make such representations in a clear 
and unambiguous document within one month of the admission body ceasing participation in the Fund.

e) Where a guarantor arrangement is in place, but no formal risk-sharing arrangement exists, the Fund will 
consider how the approach to setting contribution rates payable by the admission body during its 
participation in the Fund reflects which party is responsible for funding risks. This decision will inform the 
determination of the value of any exit credit payment.

f) If the admission agreement ends early, the Fund will consider the reason for the early termination, and 
whether that should have any relevance on the Fund’s determination of the value of any exit credit 
payment.  In these cases, the Fund will consider the difference between employers’ contributions paid 
and the size of any cessation surplus.

g) The decision of the Fund is final in interpreting how any arrangement described under b), d), e) and f) 
applies to the value of an exit credit payment.

h) If an admitted body leaves on a low-risk cessation basis (because no guarantor is in place), then any exit 
credit will normally be paid in full to the employer.

Scheduled bodies and resolution bodies
a) Employers within the Town and Parish Councils Pool will not receive an exit credit on leaving the Fund. 

b) Where a guarantor arrangement is in place, but no formal risk-sharing arrangement exists, the Fund will 
consider how the approach to setting contribution rates payable by the admission body during its 
participation in the Fund reflects which party is responsible for funding risks. This decision will inform the 
determination of the value of any exit credit payment.

c) Where no formal guarantor or risk-sharing arrangement exists, the Fund will consider how the approach 
to setting contribution rates payable by the admission body during its participation in the Fund reflects 
which party is responsible for funding risks. This decision will inform the determination of the value of any 
exit credit payment.

d) The decision of the Fund is final in the interpreting how any arrangement described under b) and c) 
applies to the value of an exit credit payment.

Page 48



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund 

September 2020 003
D:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\0\9\9\AI00029990\$HZOPC3VI.DOCX

e) If a scheme employer or resolution body becomes an exiting employer due to a reorganisation, merger or 
take-over, then no exit credit will be paid.

f) If a scheme employer or resolution body leaves on a gilts-based cessation (because no guarantor is in 
place), then any exit credit will normally be paid in full to the employer.

General
a) The Fund will advise the exiting employer as well as the letting authority and/or other relevant scheme 

employers of its decision to make an exit credit determination under Regulation 64.  

b) The Fund will also factor in if any contributions due or monies owed to the Fund remain unpaid by the 
employer at the cessation date.  If this is the case, the Fund’s default position will be to deduct these from 
any exit credit payment.

c) The final decision will be made by the Head of Pensions of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, in 
conjunction with advice from the Fund’s Actuary and/or legal advisors where necessary, in consideration 
of the points held within this policy.

d) The Fund accepts that there may be some situations that are bespoke in nature and do not fall into any of 
the categories above. In these situations the Fund will discuss its approach to determining an exit credit 
with all affected parties.  The decision of the Fund in these instances is final.

e) The Fund will advise the exiting employer of the amount due to be repaid and seek to make the payment 
within six months of the exit date. In order to meet the six-month timeframe, the Fund requires prompt 
notification of an employer’s exit and all data and relevant information as requested. The Fund is unable 
to make any exit credit payment until it has received all data and information requested. 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Pension Committee
25th September 2020

Review of the
Pension Fund Risk Register 

Report of the Director of Finance

The attached Risk Register reflects the risks relating to the Pension Fund and 
indicates the significance of each risk.

As per previous reports the significance of individual risks is measured by a 
scoring system which multiplies the likelihood of the occurrence with the 
potential impact of such an occurrence. Both “likelihood” and “impact” are 
scored 1 – 5 and after multiplying both numbers together, the higher the 
product, the higher the risk.

Risk Score Range Risk Category
1 to 6 Low
7 to 12 Medium
13 to 25 High

The attached Risk Register shows each risk, scored before and after controls 
are in place (i.e. the inherent and residual risks).

The risks are referenced as follows:

Financial Risks (F)
Funding / Demography Risks (F/D)
Administration / Regulatory Risks (A/R)
Governance Risks (G)

Since the risk register was last considered by the Pension Committee in 
February 2020, a number of changes have been made, which are all 
highlighted in yellow, with the new narrative being shown in bold red, in the 
attached updated risk register.

A new risk A/R5 has been entered on the risk register specifically relating to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. This is:

COVID-19 pandemic having a detrimental impact to the Pension Fund service 
provided to members and/or to the collections of pension fund contributions 
and implementation of new investments.

As shown in the risk register, with a combination of home working and socially 
distancing working within the office on a rota basis, the two pensions teams 
have been able to continue to deliver the core service.

All of the risk ratings within the risk register have been reviewed and the 
residual risk ratings for risks F1, relating to investment returns, F2, relating to 
the implementation of the long-term investment strategy, and F4, relating to 
the Pension Fund deficit, have been increased due to the impact of COVID-
19.

Risk G5, relating to the lack of relevant expertise, knowledge, skills and 
resources at officer and member level in relation to administering the LGPS, 
has also increased with the residual risk rating of 16, i.e. a high residual risk.

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



This change has been made because the Finance Manager post remains 
vacant pending the appointment of a new Head of Pensions. 

Unfortunately, the individual appointed to the Head of Pensions post declined 
the post for personal reasons. A second recruitment process has now 
commenced but, at the time of the update to this risk register, no appointment 
had been made. Although the Director of Finance is now taking a more 
"hands on" role in relation to pensions, some acting up arrangements have 
been implemented, and some external consultancy support is also being 
provided, it is felt that the absence of a Head of Pensions and a Finance 
Manager necessitates that the residual risk is now high.  

Recommendation

That the Committee notes the risk register, and supports the inclusion of new 
risk A/R5 and the increase to the residual risk scores for risks F1, F2, F4 and 
G5.

Contact Officer

Paul Blacker – Director of Finance (01452 328999)

Page 52



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER UPDATED IN AUGUST 2020 FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE PENSION COMMITTEE IN SEPTEMBER 2020

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R

F1
Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the 
anticipated returns underpinning valuation of 
liabilities over the long-term

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Only anticipate long-term return on a 
relatively prudent basis (currently 4.2% pa 
for on-going employers per the 2019 
valuation) to reduce risk of under-
performing.
Assets invested on the basis of specialist 
advice, in a suitably diversified manner 
across asset classes, geographies, 
managers, etc.
Analyse progress at three yearly 
valuations for all employers, with strategic 
asset allocation to be re-examined by an 
investment specialist in the context of the 
2019 valuation results..  
Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities 
between valuations at whole Fund level.   
Actuarial Review on a like for like basis 
has confirmed a strong deficit recovery 
plan.

3 4 12 ▲ Financial

Due to the impact of COVID-19, coupled 
with uncertainty regarding BREXIT and 
other political risks and possible 
negative long term implications, this 
risk is continually monitored to 
determine whether the  likelihood of 
this risk materialising needs to be 
increased. Although investment returns 
fell sharply they have largely recovered, 
however the risk of a second peak of 
illness as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic, means that the residual risk 
cannot be reduced, with the likelihood 
score being increased from a 2 to a 3, 
resulting in an increase in the overall 
residual risk score from 8 to 12. 

11/08/2020

F2 Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Regular monitoring of Fund's cash flow 
with actuarial estimates of future cash 
flow position.                               Overall 
investment strategy options including 
diversification considered as an integral 
part of the funding strategy.  Use of asset 
liability modelling.   Actuarial Review on a 
like for like basis has confirmed a strong 
deficit recovery plan.

3 4 12 ▲ Financial

The new final strategic investment 
allocation and strategy was approved 

by the Pension Committee on 14th 
February 2020. However the COVID-19 

pandemic has caused a delay in the 
implementation of some of the BPP 

portfolio's, hence it's implementation 
will be slightly delayed, therefore the 
likelihood score for this residual risk 

has been increased which increases the 
overall residual risk score from 8 to 12.

11/08/2020

F3 Fall in risk-free returns on Government bonds, 
leading to rise in value placed on liabilities.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund 
level allows for the probability of this 
within a longer term context.  
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above.
Some investment in bonds helps to 
mitigate this risk.   Actuarial Review on a 
like for like basis has confirmed a strong 
deficit recovery plan.

2 3 6 ► Financial

Assumed long term investment return set 
as 4.2% for on-going employers under the 
2019 valuation. This long term investment 
return is one of the factors used to 
determine the contributions for all 
employers covering the period 2020/21 to 
2022/23.

11/08/2020

Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

1e

P
age 53



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F4 Increasing Pension Fund deficit The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Actuarial review via Triennial Valuation 
and regular update reports.
Regular consideration by Pension 
Committee on manager performance 
relative to funding assumptions, funding 
position and funding strategy.  Actuarial 
Review on a like for like basis has 
confirmed a strong deficit recovery plan.

3 3 9 ▲ Financial

Following the 2019 valuation the 
Funding level of the Gloucestershire 
Fund had risen from 80% as at the 2016 
valuation to 102% at the 2019 valuation. 
However, this funding level has now 
reduced  per the Funding Update 
elsewhere on the agenda for the 
September Committee, hence the 
likelihood residual score has been 
increased as a result of which the 
overall residual score has increased 
from 6 to 9.

11/08/2020

F5 Active investment manager under-performance 
relative to benchmark.

Maximising investment returns to help 
the Fund achieve its funding target

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses 
market performance and active managers 
relative to their index benchmark.  
Diversification of investments across 
asset classes and across different fund 
managers

2 3 6 ► Financial

Performance in the current portfolio's and 
in the new BPP portfolio's will be monitored 
against agreed performance targets and 
will be reported back to the Committee on 
a quarterly basis. 

11/08/2020

F6 Pay and price inflation significantly more than 
anticipated.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 2 8

The focus of the actuarial valuation 
process is on real returns on assets, net 
of price and pay increases. 
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, 
gives early warning. 
Some investment in index-linked bonds 
also helps to mitigate this risk.  
Employers pay for their own salary 
awards and should be mindful of the 
geared effect on pension liabilities of any 
bias in pensionable pay rises towards 
longer-serving employees.  

3 2 6 ► Financial 11/08/2020

F7 Unexpected increase in employer’s contribution 
rate 

To stabilise changes in employer 
contribution rates over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has 
been agreed for eligible employers as part 
of the funding strategy.  Other measures 
are also in place to limit sudden increases 
in contributions.
Obtain information on financial strength of 
individual employers. Discuss with 
employers their ability to absorb rises in 
their level of contribution.
Where appropriate mitigate impact 
through deficit spreading and phasing in 
of contribution rises, with appropriate 
security from employers and further 
analysis by the Fund’s actuary.

2 3 6 ► Financial

Following the 2019 valuation of the Fund 
the contribution rates for the vast majority 
of employers will remain at the levels set 
under the 2016 valuation or will reduce.

11/08/2020

P
age 54



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F8

A company, without a guarantor, admitted to the 
Fund as an admission body may become financially 
unviable, leaving a significant financial deficit with 
the Fund.

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Under current admission rules, a 
transferee admission body will always 
have a funding guarantee from the 
transferring scheme employer. A 
community admission body will only be 
admitted to the Fund if they have a 
funding guarantee from a scheme 
employer with tax raising powers. A surety 
bond to cover the cost of paying pensions 
early if the company goes into liquidation 
is also generally required by the scheme 
employer to cover the potential risk of the 
admitted body becoming insolvent and the 
value of this surety or bond is reviewed 
regularly to ensure it provides adequate 
cover for the financial risks involved. 
Many years ago, prior to the introduction 
of these rules, some employers were 
admitted to the Fund without guarantors. 
At the start of 2019/20 there were seven 
"old" employers within the Fund without a 
guarantor.

2 3 6 ► Financial

The residual risk was reduced in 2019 
because two high risk employers without 
guarantors left the fund between March 
2018 and January 2019. Both have now 
repaid their cessation deficits of around 
£6m  and £6.2m respectively. Since this 
date, as part of the 2019 valuation of the 
Fund, Gloucester City Council and 
Cheltenham Borough Council have agreed 
to act as guarantors for Gloucestershire 
Airport LGPS liabilities. Once the legalities 
are completed this will result in lower 
contributions for Gloucestershire Airport 
and a reduced risk to the Fund. Four other 
Admitted Bodies without guarantors now 
remain within the Fund. As part of the 2019 
valuation the contibution rates for these 
employers were calculated based on a 
lower GILTS based investment return, 
which results in higher contributions. This 
partially addresses this risk for these four 
remaining admitted bodies without a 
guarantor.

11/08/2020

F9 Financial loss experienced during the transitioning 
of Assets to the new Brunel Portfolio's

Maximising investment returns to help 
the Fund achieve its funding target

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 5 15

Detailed reconciliation of assets 
transferred undertaken by the Finance 
and Investments Manager. Detailed report 
from transition experts commissioned by 
the Brunel PP will be produced following 
each transition to provide assurance to 
clients.

2 4 8 ► Financial

£510m has been transitioned to the BPP 
passive portfolio's and £345m to the BPP 
UK Equities active portfolio and a 
reconciliation has confirmed that all assets 
transitioned as expected. Similar 
processes will be used for future 
transitions.

11/08/2020

F/D1 Pensioners living longer, thus increasing cost to 
Fund.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 2 10

Set mortality assumptions with some 
allowance for future increases in life 
expectancy.
The Fund Actuary has direct access to 
the experience of over 50 LGPS funds 
which allows early identification of 
changes in life expectancy that might in 
turn affect the assumptions underpinning 
the valuation.
The Fund also sets life expectancy 
assumptions using ClubVita, which is a 
specialised longevity company and 
provides life expectancy assumptions 
based on the profile of the Fund’s own 
membership.
Administering Authority encourage any 
employers concerned at costs to promote 
later retirement culture.  Each 1 year rise 
in the average age at retirement would 
save roughly 5% of pension costs.  

2 2 4 ► Financial

This has been addressed under the 2019 
valuation of the Fund with specific 
Gloucestershire related data being 
supplied by Club Vita analysis, hence 
longevity movements have been taken into 
account under the 2019 valuation.

11/08/2020

P
age 55



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D2

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively 
contributing employees declines relative to retired 
employees leading to the possibility of there not 
being sufficient liquid funds available to pay 
liabilities as they fall due.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Continue to monitor at each valuation, 
seeking monetary amounts rather than % 
of pay. Between valuations regularly 
monitor level of active members on both a 
total Fund basis and by individual 
employer. Regularly monitor how cash 
flow positive the Fund is. Regularly review 
investment strategy.

2 3 6 ► Financial

The Fund commissioned Hymans 
Robertson to undertake cash flow 
modelling based on the following three 
scenarios:
Scenario 1 – cash flows projections based 
on 2016 valuation membership data, 
Scenario 2 – cash flows projections based 
on 2016 valuation membership data, with a 
20% reduction in actives, Scenario 3  - with 
a 40% reduction in active members. This 
modelling indicated that the fund will 
remain cash flow positive until 2033 under 
scenario1, to 2026 under scenario 2 and 
would immediately become casflow 
negative under scenario 3. Given that 
active membership in the Gloucestershire 
scheme is still increasing slightly it is felt 
that scenario 1 is the most likely outcome 
for the fund.

11/08/2020

F/D3 Deteriorating patterns of early retirements
To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Employers are charged the extra cost of 
non ill-health retirements following each 
individual decision. 2 3 6 ► Financial 11/08/2020

F/D4 Reductions in payroll causing insufficient deficit 
recovery payments

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Require employers to pay sums due for 
deficit recovery contributions as a fixed 
monetary amount rather than being 
expressed as a % of pay.

2 3 6 ► Financial 11/08/2020

F/D5 Ill-health retirements significantly more than 
anticipated

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Monitoring of each employer’s ill-health 
experience on an ongoing basis. The 
employer may be charged additional 
contributions if this exceeds the ill-health 
assumption built in. Ill health insurance is 
available to be purchased by individual 
employers

2 3 6 ► Financial

Aa new ill health liability insurance 
procedure is being introduced from 1 April 
2020 under which all Town and Parish 
Council's, Academy Schools and Admitted 
Bodies without guarantors, as the highest 
risk employers within the fund in relation to 
this issue are included within an overall 
external insurance policy arranged by the 
fund, funded within the contributions set 
under the 2019 valuation. All other 
employers will be included within the cover 
of a central policy unless they formally opt 
out of cover, under the procedures agreed 
by the Pension Committee in September 
2019. Full details of the new arrangements 
have been sent to all employers with the 
details of the outcome of the 2019 
valuation and the contributions set for the 
period 2020/21 to 2022/23. To date only 
three employers have opted out of the new 
insurance arrangements.

11/08/2020

P
age 56



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D6

Adverse effect on the Fund’s investment strategy 
and employer contributions if large numbers of 
active members are outsourced on a “closed” (to 
new entrants) basis

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

Take advice from the Fund actuary on the 
likely impact this will have on Fund 
investment out performance assumptions 
and employer contributions. Monitor levels 
of outsourcings on a “closed” basis and 
advise employers of implications so these 
are taken into account when they consider 
the business case for an outsourcing. 
Regularly review investment strategy and 
strategic asset allocation.

2 3 6 ► Financial

No significant impact to date, but the risk 
will continue to be monitored on a regular 
basis. The comPASS modelling of 
contributions payable by GCC, the Police 
and District Council's has taken account of 
this, especially the Publica outsourcing and 
hence this will be taken into account when 
the employer contributions are set for the 
tears 2020/21 to 2022/23.

11/08/2020

F/D7
Transfers out of the Fund into DC schemes due to 
introduction of "Freedom & Choice" resulting in a 
change in funding level

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

Taken advice from the Fund actuary on 
the proportion of the Fund's active and 
deferred members aged 55 or over and 
the maximum exposure of the Fund to 
these transfers, split between active and 
deferred members. Considered impact on 
funding level given different possible 
levels of take up from active and deferred 
members.

2 2 4 ► Financial

The comPASS modelling of contributions 
payable by GCC, the Police and District 
Council's has taken account of this, 
especially the Publica outsourcing and 
hence this will be taken into account when 
the employer contributions are set for the 
tears 2020/21 to 2022/23.

11/08/2020

A/R1.1

Significant additional costs resulting from changes 
to national pension requirements and/or HMRC 
rules e.g. changes arising from public sector 
pensions reform, and/or more complex regulations 
requiring increased administration resources.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

The Administering Authority considers all 
consultation papers issued by the 
Government and comments where 
appropriate. Considered different % take 
up scenarios for active and deferred 
members
The results of the most recent reforms 
have been built into the 2013 valuation.  
Any changes to member contribution 
rates or benefit levels will be carefully 
communicated with members to minimise 
possible opt-outs or adverse actions. 

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory

In order to effectively deal with the 
increased workload emanating from the 
new 2016 CARE scheme, additional 
pensions officers were recruited to in the 
Pension Administration Team during 2016 
as stage 1 of a review of the Pension 
Administration Team. A further four staff 
members have now been recruited in 2018 
under stage 2 of the review. The Pension 
Committee agreed at it's May 19 meeting 
to build in sufficient resources within the 
budget to action Stage 3 of the review 
which is to increase the number of senior 
pension officers by three, from four to 
seven. 

11/08/2020

P
age 57



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

A/R 1.2

Under resourcing of Pension Administration staff 
resulting in a deterioration of performance against 
key performance indicators and/or intervention from 
the Pensions Regulator.

Experience indicates that intervention 
by the Pensions Regulator has major 
implications in terms of increased 
workload and/or adverse financial 
implications.

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

This risk is regularly monitored and, as 
detailed in risk A/R 1.1 actions have 
already been taken to increase the level 
of Pensions Officers in order to improve 
performance against key performance 
indicators.

3 3 9 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory

In order to effectively deal with the 
increased workload emanating from the 
new 2016 CARE scheme, additional 
pensions officers were recruited to in the 
Pension Administration Team during 2016 
as stage 1 of a review of the Pension 
Administration Team. A further four staff 
members have now been recruited in 2018 
under stage 2 of the review. The Pension 
Committee agreed at it's May 19 meeting 
to build in sufficient resources within the 
budget to action Stage 3 of the review 
which is to increase the number of senior 
pension officers by three, from four to 
seven. 

11/08/2020

A/R2 Failure to collect and account for contributions from 
employers and employees on time

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Regular monthly monitoring and 
reconciliation of Fund contributions 
received, including a detailed analysis of 
individual employer contributions and 
employee contributions by pay banding. 
Robust debt management processes are 
in place  to recover any late payments

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory 11/08/2020

A/R3 Loss of funds through fraud or misappropriation

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Procedures and processes are in place 
and applied in relation to eg: checking for 
"ghost" scheme members;  multiple levels 
of authorisation for claims and fund 
payments plus secondary checking of 
lump sum payments. Procedures are 
documented and staff are trained and 
managed in carrying these out. The 
Fund's internal auditors carry out regular 
reviews.

2 3 6 ► Fraud

The funds internal auditors regularly review 
the adequacy of controls within the 
Pensions Section. These reviews make 
use of experienced Counter Fraud staff 
who are available to the internal auditors.

11/08/2020

A/R4

Does the fund have sufficient resources to provide 
sufficient input to the development of the Brunel 
Pension Partnership in the context of the 
importance of ensuring that the partnership 
operates in an efficient and effective manner.

To ensure the fund is proactive in the 
development of the proposals and the 
robust control environment required for 
the collective management of assets, 
to avoid a detrimental impact on the 
fund. 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Additional staffing resources may be 
required to facilitate dedicated staffing 
resources to take forward the pooling 
proposal. This may require additional 
contributions from participating funds.

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory

Now that the partnership has developed to 
the establishment of the new company, 
with senior appointments being made, 
limited senior officer resources can now be 
more directed at the important client side 
roles, including looking at the adequacy of 
control systems.

11/08/2020

A/R5

Failure to undertake a full reconciliation of 
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions records held on the 
Gloucestershire LGPS Altair system with those held 
by HMRC could result in additional financial costs 
to the Gloucestershire Fund.

Additional financial costs to the Fund Head of Pension 
Fund 5 3 15

A detailed reconciliation procedure has 
commenced and a large number of 
discrepancies have been identified where 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund is not 
liable for GMP payments held on HMRC 
records.

2 3 6 ► Service Continuity

Detailed reconciliation process completed 
and results returned to HMRC which has 
resulted in a significant reduction in 
potential abilities.

11/08/2020

P
age 58



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

A/R5

COVID-19 Pandemic having a detrimental 
impact to the Pension Fund service provided to 
members and/or to the collections of pension 
fund contributions and investments.

Without appropriate actionas being 
taken new retirees would not 
receive their pensions, 
contributions would not be received 
and new investments would not be 
actyioned

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Due to remote access the majority of 
the finance and investment team staff 
can all work effectively from home with 
a minimal negative impact on the 
service. With regartd to administration, 
due to the paper based nature of the 
service, effective working from home is 
not possible for all staff, and hence 
some office working would be needed 
to continue to prode an adequate 
service to members. 

3 3 9 New Service Continuit

Due to the fact that the majority of the 
Finance offices have been empty since 
the pandemic, the Pensions 
Administration team have taken over 
other offices and introduced a social 
distancing mode of working. The team 
has been split into two, with each sub 
team working in the office every other 
week. This, supported by home 
working, where possible, has ensured 
that the key services have continued to 
be provided effectevely, especially the 
calculation and payment of new 
pensions, payment of death grants and 
the issuing of Annual Benefit 
Statements to all members by the 
statutory deadline of the end of August 
2020. The finance and investment team 
have worked effectively at home to 
deliver the full service.

11/08/2020

G1

Administering Authority unaware of structural 
changes in an employer’s membership (e.g. large 
fall in employee members, large number of 
retirements) or not advised of an employer closing 
to new entrants

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority has a close 
relationship with employing bodies and 
communicates required standards e.g. for 
submission of data. 
The Actuary may revise the rates and 
Adjustments certificate to increase an 
employer’s contributions (under 
Regulation 38) between triennial 
valuations

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/08/2020

G2
Actuarial or investment advice is not sought, or is 
not heeded, or proves to be insufficient in some 
way

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority maintains 
close contact with its specialist advisers.
Advice is delivered via formal meetings 
involving Elected Members, and recorded 
appropriately.
Actuarial advice is subject to professional 
requirements such as peer review

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/08/2020

G3
Administering Authority failing to commission the 
Fund Actuary to carry out a termination valuation 
for a departing Admission Body.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority requires 
employers with Best Value contractors  ( 
Transferee Admission Bodies) to inform it 
of forthcoming changes. The 
administering authority also monitors 
contract periods of Transferee Admission 
Bodies and regularly monitors levels of 
active employees across all employers 
but particularly for Community Admission 
Bodies. Where their active membership 
materially decreases further steps are 
taken.

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/08/2020

G4 Failure to comply with the Myners’ Investment 
Principles

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Compliance as detailed in the Statement 
of Investment Principles is kept under 
regular review. 

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/08/2020

P
age 59



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

G5
Lack of relevant expertise, knowledge, skills and 
resources at officer and member level in relation to 
administering the LGPS

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Training needs assessments for the 
Administering Authority are carried out 
and an annual training plan produced. The 
Fund subscribes to the CIPFA Knowledge 
and Skills Framework for the LGPS and 
makes this information available to all 
members of the Pension Committee and 
relevant officers. Appropriately qualified 
external advisers and consultants are 
used as appropriate.

4 4 16 ▲ Governance

The Finance Manager post remains 
vacant pending the appointment of a 
new Head of Pensions. Unfortunately 
the individual appointed to the Head of 
Pensions post declined the post for 
personal reasons. A second recruitment 
process has commenced but, at the 
time of the update to this risk register, 
no appointment had been made. The 
Director of Finance is taking a more 
"hands on" role and some acting up 
arrangements have been implemented. 
Some external consultancy support is 
also being provided. However, the 
absence of a Head of Pensions and 
Finance Manager has resulted in this 
risk score being increased from 12 to 
16, meaning that this is now a high 
residual risk.  

11/08/2020

G6 Failure to internally hold personal data securely and 
keep pension records up-to-date and accurate

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Personal data and scanned documents 
relating to scheme members are 
maintained in an online system with 
logical access controls via individual 
password access for those that need to 
maintain and access this information. 
Procedures for maintaining pension 
records are documented and the process 
is monitored and managed within the 
Pensions Administration team. 
Procedures are regularly reviewed by the 
Fund's internal auditors. Physical access 
controls are also in operation within the 
Pension Fund office. 

1 4 4 ► Governance 11/08/2020

G7

Loss of experience on the Pension Fund 
Committee or Pension Board, and/or the lack of 
adequate training, resulting in a negative impact on 
governance arrangements within the 
Gloucestershire LGPS.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 4 12

Training is provided on an on-going basis 
to Committee and Board Members both at 
formal meetings of the Committee/Board 
and at internal and external training 
sessions.

1 4 4 ► Governance

The Pension Board was established in 
2015 with members appointed for a period 
of 4 years, which can be extended by 4 
years with the agreement of the member of 
the Board. Four members who have 
served for 4 years have been written to to 
see if they are willing to continue to sit on 
the Board for up to a further 4 years. At the 
time of update three members have 
confirmed that they are willing to stay on 
the Board.

11/08/2020

G8

Transition from the current custodian to State 
Street Bank under the Brunel Pension Partnership 
resulting in failings during the transition and/or 
inadequate performance reports post transition 
and/or negative impacts on the final accounts of the 
Pension Fund due to failings in the accounting 
reports received from State Street Bank

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 4 12

Detailed control procedures implemented 
during the transition with support from a 
transition manager working for the Brunel 
Pension Partnership

1 3 3 ► Governance

No major problems were encountered 
during the transitions undertaken to date 
and assets transferred were reconciled 
back to the detailed records held by each 
manager.

11/08/2020

P
age 60



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

G9

Failure to comply with the General Data Protection 
Regulation resulting in breaches which have to be 
reported to the Pension Regulator and the 
Information Commissioners Office resulting in 
complaints from scheme members and/or 
significant financial fines. 

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 4 20

Detailed guidance and support was 
obtained from the GCC Information 
Management Team which resulted in 
additional guidance being provided on the 
Pension Fund website to meet the 
requirements of GDPR.

3 4 12 ► Governance

Detailed guidance and support was 
obtained from the GCC Information 
Management Team which resulted in 
additional guidance being provided on the 
Pension Fund website to meet the 
requirements of GDPR. A recent internal 
audit has confirmed that there are 
satisfactory arrangements in this area.

11/08/2020

G10

Failure to protect the Pension Fund's key 
information and data as a result of exploited 
technological vulnerabilities facilitated through 
malicious attack, primarily from external sources.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 4 20

Anti-malware and internet security 
software. Patch management policies and 
procedures. Compliance with PSN. 
Internal and External ICT security testing. 
Manging user privileges.

3 3 9 ► Governance 11/08/2020

G11

Failing to adequately take account of, and monitor 
and report on, Environmental, Social and 
Governance ("ESG") factors, including Climate 
Change, in relation to the investment of the Funds 
assets, resulting in negative ESG implications 
and/or financial loss.

In the longer term investments with 
positive ESG impacts may well lead to 
improved financial returns.

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 4 12

As a member of the Brunel Pension 
Partnership the Fund will benefit from the 
fact that ESG factors, including Climate 
Change, are integral to all of the 
investment decisions made by the BPP 
on behalf of Client Funds. Such factors 
will be taken into account for all 
investment manager appointments made 
by the BPP, and a  robust on-going 
monitoring and reporting system of ESG 
and Climate Change factors will ensure 
that the Pension Committee receives on-
going assurance in this area.

2 3 6 ► Governance

In January 2020 the Brunel Pension 
Partnership launched their detailed Climate 
Change policy. The Gloucestershire 
Pensions Committee will receive a copy of 
this policy at it's May meeting, together 
with a detailed presentation from Faith 
Ward, the Chief Responsible Investment 
Officer at the BPP, and a recommendation 
that the Gloucestershire Fund formally 
adopts the BPP Climate Change policy.

11/08/2020

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund

Business Plan 2020-21

1. Introduction

This Business Plan has been prepared in accordance with the Department for 
Communities & Local Government (CLG) best practice guidance for the governance of 
Pension Funds. 

2. Background

As at 31st March 2020, the Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
Fund had 55,901 members consisting of 19,121 active, 20,173 deferred and 16,607 
retired (pensioner/dependant) members. There are 204 active employer bodies in the 
Fund.  The value of investment assets under management at 31st March 2020 was £2.24 
billion.

The Pension Committee is responsible for the proper administration of all aspects of the 
Fund and has been delegated this authority by the County Council, as Administering 
Authority of the Fund.

3. Key Issues to be considered by the Pension Committee

The Committee aims to ensure the maximising of investment returns over the long term 
within an acceptable level of risk, in the context of the Investment Strategy and the Fund’s 
Risk Register. This includes reviewing the Fund Managers’ performance as set out in the 
quarterly performance reports which are provided to the Committee on a quarterly basis, 
taking account of views and recommendations made by officers of the fund, including the 
Independent Advisor. The Committee also have to ensure that, over the long term, there 
are sufficient assets readily available to meet all Fund liabilities. 

Another key investment issue to be considered by the Pension Committee is the Brunel 
Pension Partnership, which the Gloucestershire Fund has joined, which became fully 
operational as an FCA regulated company from 1 April 2018 in accordance with 
Government requirements. 

During 2018/19 and 2019/20 a significant proportion of the funds investments were 
transferred to the Brunel Pension Partnership as each of the partnerships investment 
mandates became operational. As at the 31st March 2020, £1,280 million of the funds 
assets had been invested in new Brunel Portfolio’s. The vast majority of the other assets 
of the Fund will be transitioned to the BPP during 2020/21.

There are also a number of key policy and strategy documents which the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations require to be produced and these 
need to be kept under regular review. These can accessed on the County Council’s web 
site (www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensionsinvestments) and are listed below:

Page 63

Agenda Item 10

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensionsinvestments


2

Funding Strategy Statement

This sets down the strategy for prudently meeting the Fund’s future pension liabilities over 
the longer term, including the maintenance, as far as possible, of stable levels of 
employer contributions. It also identifies key risks and controls facing the Fund and 
includes details of employer contribution rates following the Fund’s triennial valuation.

The Fund, working with its actuaries Hymans Robertson, undertook a review of the 
Funding Strategy Statement in the context of the final results of the 2019 valuation. This 
resulted in the Funding Strategy Statement being updated and consulted on with all of the 
employers within the Fund, before being formally agreed by the Pension Committee in 
February 2020.

Investment Strategy Statement

The Investment Strategy Statement has been prepared in accordance with the LGPS - 
Management & Investment of Funds Regulations, which came into force from 1 
November 2016. These regulations introduced a prudential framework for investment 
decision making, and a Power of Direction for the Secretary of State to intervene in the 
investment function of an Administering Authority if deemed necessary, and also requires 
all funds to publish a new Investment Strategy Statement (ISS), which includes the 
Strategic Asset allocation by 1 April each year.

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has also outlined new 
guidance on preparing and maintaining an Investment Strategy Statement which replaces 
the Statement of Investment Principles (SIP). 

In order to comply with the guidance, administering authorities must take proper advice as 
part of the formulation of the Investment Strategy Statement and new Investment 
Strategy. 

The Fund, working with the Independent Advisor to the Fund, undertook a review of the 
Strategic Asset allocation and the Investment Strategy Statement after the actuarial 
valuation had been completed during 2019/20, taking detailed advice from the 
Independent Advisor who is an investment specialist, in order to meet the requirements 
set out above.

The new Investment Strategy Statement and Strategic Asset Allocation which will be 
implemented in stages from 1 April 2020, was agreed by the Gloucestershire Pension 
Committee and has been placed on the Gloucestershire LGPS website. 

Page 64



3

Communications Strategy

This details how the Fund provides information and publicity about the Pension scheme to 
its existing members and their employers, as well as methods of promoting the Pension 
scheme to prospective members and their employers. It also identifies the format, 
frequency and method of distributing such information or publicity. This strategy will be 
reviewed during 2020/21 and will be agreed by the Gloucestershire Pension Committee in 
February 2021 and will be placed on the Gloucestershire LGPS website. 

Governance Compliance Statement 

The LGPS Regulations require Administering Authorities to prepare a written statement 
setting out their compliance with best practice governance principles. These best practice 
principles are grouped within eight categories and are listed within the statement. The 
Fund’s compliance against each of these principles is also detailed, including evidence of 
compliance and, if appropriate, reasons if there is not full compliance. This will be 
reviewed during 2020/21 and will be agreed by the Pension Committee by February 2021.

Governance Policy Statement 

This document details the arrangements put in place by the Administering Authority for 
the administration of the Pension scheme. These include the terms of reference of the 
Pension Committee and the appropriate governance arrangements which will reflect the 
eight categories of best practice principles as outlined in the Governance Compliance 
Statement. This will be reviewed during 2020/21 and will be agreed by the Pension 
Committee by the end of February 2021.

2019/20 was the financial year in which the full actuarial valuation of the fund was 
undertaken. This valuation, which was overseen by the Pension Committee, examined, in 
detail, the assets and liabilities of all of the employers within the Fund, and set the 
employers contribution rates covering the financial years 2020/21 to 2022/23. At the 
valuation date of 1 April 2019 the Gloucestershire Fund was 102% funded.

In addition to the above, during 2020/21, the Pension Committee will agree the annual 
report and annual accounts relating of the Fund covering the 2019/20 financial year. The 
Committee will also receive six monthly updates on the performance of the pension 
administration team, comparing actual performance against the agreed performance 
indicators set out later in this plan, and will consider the updated risk register at each 
meeting of the Committee.

Page 65



4

4. Key Targets & Major Milestones for the Pension Fund in 2020/21

The major targets and milestones for 2020/21 are detailed below.

Task Measure of Performance

Effectively transition remaining assets of the Meeting transition timetable and 
Fund to the new managers appointed by the minimising transition costs.
Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP).

Continue to input into the governance Effective service delivery by the
arrangements within the BPP including BPP.
the Client Group and Oversight Board.

Ensure the collection of, and accounting for, Full collection and correct 
£100m+ of employer and employee accounting within final accounts
contributions from Fund employers.

Pension Fund Accounts completed by 30/06/20 Meet specified time scales
for publication by 31/08/20

Action any DCLG requirements re the future Meet specified time scales
structure of the LGPS, including investments

Accounts agreed by the Audit Committee No qualification of a/c’s by Auditor
on 30th October 2020

To administer pension benefits in accordance No material breaches that need
with the LGPS regulations, and the guidance to be reported to the Pension
set out by the Pension Regulator. Regulator.

Issue the Annual Benefit Statements to all Meet specified time scales
Fund Members by the end of August 2020 

2019/20 Annual Pension Fund Report produced Discussed at Annual Meeting  
and printed by 01/12/20.

Update Pension Strategy Statements: For agreement by Committee by:
 Funding Strategy Statement End February 2020
 Investment Strategy Statement End February and September 2020
 Communications Strategy End November 2020
 Governance Policy and Compliance End February 2021

Statement

In house training for Committee and Board Relevance of topics covered 

To continue with regional training events in Provision of training events 
relation to the Brunel Pension Partnership

Page 66



5

5. Pension Fund Financial Estimates

The costs of operating the Gloucestershire Pension Fund are borne by the Fund (and not 
by the County Council). The estimated costs for 2019/20 are shown below and are split 
between “Investments, Accounting &Financial Management” and “Scheme 
Administration”. For comparison purposes the previous year’s estimates are also shown. 

“Investments, Accounting &Financial Management” includes the cost of Fund Managers, 
the Brunel Pension Partnership costs and other external costs, as well as the internal 
costs of producing and maintaining the Fund’s accounting records and statements. 

“Scheme Administration” includes the internal costs of dealing with the Fund’s members 
and employers in relation to current/future benefits and compliance with scheme 
regulations, as well as external costs such as IT and actuarial costs in supporting Fund 
administration and the Triennial Valuation.

ESTIMATES 2019/20
        
2020/21

£’000  £’000   £’000      £’000
Investments, Accounting & 
Financial Management
Staff costs 372 380
Other internal costs 67 67
External Fund Manager fees 5,800 6,346
Other external costs 1,211 1,300
Sub Total of Investments Costs 7,450 8,093

Scheme Administration including 
Member Records & Benefits
Staff costs 755 820
Other internal costs 354 350
External costs 584 580
Sub Total of Administration Costs 1,693 1,750

Total 9,143 9,843

The main budget changes between 2019/20 and 2020/21 are:

Investment Costs

The budget for External Fund Manager costs has been increased by £546,000 between 
2019/20 and 2020/21 taking it to £6.3 million. This budget stood at £6.5 million in 
2018/19, but was reduced to £5.8 million in 2019/20 to take account of forecast potential 
savings emanating from pooling. Now that a large number of portfolio’s have been 
created, and managers have been appointed, it is clear that the budget reduction made 
between 2018/19 and 2019/20 was too large.

Page 67



6

The budget for the External Fund Manager costs for 2020/21 has now been based on the 
actual fees paid during 2019/20. This is felt to be more prudent budgeting, rather than 
trying to forecast savings, or indeed increased costs, emanating from new Brunel 
portfolio’s which will become operational during 2020/21. 

Once all of the new Brunel portfolio’s are operational, and managers have been 
appointed, the actual fees will be known, thereby allowing for the calculation of the long 
term budget requirement.

As reported to the Pension Committee when the business case for the Brunel Pension 
Partnership was approved, the Gloucestershire Fund were paying the lowest pre pooling 
investment fees of all of the Funds that joined the partnership. Hence, although there will 
be fee savings for the vast majority of funds that joined the BPP, in the case of the 
Gloucestershire Fund these are likely to be marginal.

The situation is also complicated by the fact that savings forecasts were based on current 
investments and investment strategies in place in 2015, which have significantly changed 
since that time. In the case of the Gloucestershire Fund, the changes to the strategic 
asset allocation have resulted in investments in many new areas. This makes the 
calculation of accurate savings at individual portfolio level, very difficult indeed, since 
where Funds are moving into new mandates there are no actual investment fees to 
compare the new fees achieved by the BPP with.

Finally the fee’s payable for some mandates have increased as a result of moving from 
passive to active managers, particularly in the case of emerging markets equities, and 
following the amendments to the strategic asset allocation which resulted in increased 
investments to alternatives, particularly private equity and infrastructure which are subject 
to higher fee rates, and the high alpha global equities mandate..

In summary, at an overall level, the budget for investment fees before the BPP became 
operational from an investment perspective stood at £6.5 million. The budget proposed 
for 2020/21, based on actual costs incurred during 2019/20 is £6.35 million. The final long 
terms investment fees budget requirement will be known once all portfolio’s are live, and 
all manager fees are known. 

Scheme Administration including Member Records & Benefits

The budget for staff costs is increased by £65,000 (fye). The vast majority of this increase 
is to provide funding to facilitate increased resource for the Pension Administration team.

As has been previously reported to the Pension Committee and Pension Board, the last 
few years have seen unprecedented change in the level of legislative and statutory 
responsibilities imposed on the administration of the LGPS. The introduction of the new 
CARE scheme, and increased record keeping and reporting requirements from the 
Pension’s Regulator, being the most notable.

Page 68



7

The increased complexity not only affects the day-to-day administration of the scheme, 
but has also impacted substantially on the level of technical support the pensions section 
is required to provide to active employee members of the fund in terms of options 
available to them, and the growing number of employers in terms of understanding the 
legislation.

In line with other LGPS funds, Gloucestershire has already commenced increasing staff 
to cope the additional demands, but due the high level of training and support required for 
new recruits, has approached this on a “staged” basis to ensure the section was able to 
cope with the additional training pressures, whilst still providing a good level of customer 
service. 

The management team still believe that additional budget provision is required in order to 
prevent a significant drop in the performance of the administration service, in the context 
the Gloucestershire Pension Administration team is still significantly smaller than the 
teams in the vast majority of other funds within the BPP.

6 Administrative/Training Targets for the Committee 

Members to attend at least 60% of Pension Committee meetings each year.

The Pension Committee have agreed individuals should carry out a minimum of 1 days 
training each year via any combination of the following:  attendance on regional briefings 
on the Brunel Pension Partnership, attendance on internal training events and external 
courses/conferences/seminars; reading briefing notes/policy documents; reading and 
discussing reports at Pension Committee. 

Committee minutes to be issued within two months of a meeting 

Committee papers to be sent out 5 working days before a meeting.

To regularly review and agree changes to strategy/policy documents. All strategy/policy 
documents will be considered by Committee at least every three years, even if no 
changes are recommended. 

Page 69



8

7. Administrative Targets for the Pension Fund

Service Standards – Processing tasks within internal 
targets

Target Achievement %

Issue estimates to employees within15 days 90%

Process retirements and lump sums within15 days 90%

Pay refunds within 15 days 90%

Pay death grants within 8 days 90%

Issue Annual Benefits Statements within the statutory 
deadline

100%

Pay Transfers Out” within15 days 90%

Pension Fund Accounts produced by statutory deadline 30/6/2020

Annual report produced by statutory deadline 01/12/2020

The Pension Committee and Pension Board receive regular reports on the actual 
achievement against these performance targets.

Recommendation

That the Business Plan for 2020/21 is approved.

Contact Officer

Paul Blacker – Director of Finance.

Page 70



1

Pension Committee
25th September 2020

Pension Administration Performance Report 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director

1. Pension Administration during COVID-19

In line with national guidance, it was identified from the outset of the Covid-19 

pandemic that member of the pensions administration team clearly fell within the 

description of “key workers”, due to essential need to continue to calculate and pay 

benefits to the schemes beneficiaries as they became due.

 

It was similarly identified that for the Pensions team to effectively continue to 

administer the LGPS and pay accurate benefits in a timely manner, whilst retaining 

robust checking and authorisation processes, was going to require an office 

presence. Due to this, and in order to deliver the key services whilst protecting the 

health of staff, the decision was taken from the outset to divide the Pension 

Administration team into two sub teams. These teams work on a rotational basis of 

one week in the office, followed by one week working at home. 

Under this arrangement the management and staff of the pension administration 

section have worked through the different tasks and workloads of the section, 

dividing them into those that can be completed effectively and securely from home, 

and those that require an office presence for effective delivery.

 

An additional step that was implemented from the outset, to further improve staff 

safety, was to separate the “in office” team across the office space of not only the 

Pensions Section, but also of a neighbouring vacant office. This has delivered an 

effective service whilst also ensuring substantial “social distancing” from the 

beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic. Meetings are held with the “in office” team at 

least weekly to remind all staff of social distancing requirements and to update them 

on any matters.

Page 71

Agenda Item 11



2

In summary, working in this manner has: 

 enabled the section to continue to operate as efficiently as possible in the 

circumstances, with key tasks including the calculation and payment of new 

pensions and lump sum payments and payments of death grants being 

continued;

 effectively helped to reduce the risk to staff of covid-19 transmission; 

 ensured that staff do not feel isolated from their colleagues due to continued 

working from home and has helped continue the feeling of “belonging” to the 

team;

 allowed the ongoing day-to-day technical “brainstorming” that needs to take 

place between team members in such a technical area of work.

These new procedures have certainly resulted in the delivery of an effective service 

given the difficult circumstances, as evidenced by the performance figures for the 

first quarter of 2020/21, as detailed in table 1 below. As the Director of Finance 

responsible for the Gloucestershire LGPS I would like to take the opportunity to 

applaud member of the Pensions Administration team for the professional manner in 

which they have embraced the changes that have been implemented for their own 

safety and the ongoing efficient running of the section. It is also good to see that 

feedback from team members has particularly appreciated the feeling of “normality” 

during their week in the office.

Whilst the Covid-19 crisis has created (and continues to create) substantial 

additional challenges, I am also pleased to be able to report that the section has still 

managed to produce and distribute the 2019/20 Annual Benefit Statements by the 

statutory deadline of the end of August 2020 for circa 18,000 active and 16,300 

deferred members.

The section also took on two new Pensions Officers at the start of the Covid-19 

pandemic. Following initial challenges in commencing the individuals’ employment 

due to the pandemic, the individuals are now in post and training is progressing well. 

Additionally, the internal promotion of one member of staff from a Pensions Officer 

role to a Lead Pensions Officer during the year, is now gradually benefiting the 

section following months of detailed training and work-shadowing.

Page 72



3

2. Pension Administration Performance in 2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20 and 
2020/21 to date

Table 1 – Summary Performance 

Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets

Target 
Achievement 
%

2017/18 
full year – 
Actual %

2018/19 
full year – 
Actual %

2019/20 
full year 
Actual %

2020/21 
first 
quarter %

Estimates to 
employees (15 days)

90% 85% 96% 98% 97%

Retirements and lump 
sums (15 days)

90% 75% 69% 61% 91%

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 96% 98% 99% 96%
Death Grants Paid (8 
days)

90% 74% 82% 67% 72%

Annual Benefits 
Statements issued 
within the statutory 
deadline

100% 100% see 
note 1

100% see 
note 1

100% 
see note 
1

N/A

“Transfers Out” Paid 
(15 days)

90% 92% 98% 99% 100%

Table 2 – 2020/21 Performance to date 

Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets

Target 
Achievement 
%

No. 
Processed

No. 
processed 
on time

Actual % 
achievement

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases)

Average 
days taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target 
ONLY)

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days)

90% 106 103 97% 4.8 not 
available

Retirements 
and lump sums 
(15 days)

90% 181 164 91% 10 19

Refunds Paid 
(15 days)

90% 108 104 96% 9 21

Death Grants 
Paid (8 days)

90% 25 18 72% 10 21

2020/21 Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within 
the statutory 
deadline

100% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days)

90% 23 23 100% 4 N/A

Page 73



4

Table 3 – 2019/20 Performance (full year) 

Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal 
targets

Target 
Achievement 
%

No. 
Processed

No. 
processed 
on time

Actual % 
achievement

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases)

Average 
days taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target 
ONLY)

Estimates to 
employees 
(15 days)

90% 739 724 98% 8 not 
available

Retirements 
and lump 
sums (15 
days)

90% 983 603 61% 13 19

Refunds 
Paid (15 
days)

90% 649 641 99% 7 23

Death 
Grants Paid 
(8 days)

90% 76 51 67% 7 10

2019/20 
Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued 
within the 
statutory 
deadline

100% 34434 see 
note 1

34434 
see note 
1

100% N/A N/A

“Transfers 
Out” Paid 
(15 days)

90% 194 192 99% 4 16

Note 1 - Regarding Annual Benefits Statements, all of the year end returns from all employers were 

received by the Administration Team within the statutory deadline. All returns were matched to the 

pensioner records held within the Administration team, and where a definitive match was made, 100% 

of the Annual Benefit Statements were distributed to active and deferred members by the statutory 

deadline.

Recommendation

That the Committee notes the Pensions Administration Performance.

Contact Officers:

Alan Marshall – Pension Administration Manager - 014528866

Paul Blacker – Director of Finance – 01452 328920

Page 74



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Performance Report ‐ Q1 to 31st March 2020
Performance by Manager vs Benchmark 

Market Value 
31.12.19

Market Value 
31.03.20

Manager Mandate Inception Date £000's £000's
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates
Aberdeen Standard ‐ GARS Global Absolute Return Nov‐12 81,176                     79,715                     ‐1.9 1.5 1.5 6.0 0.9 5.9 2.7 5.7
Blackrock Global Global Equities Apr‐05 75,551                     63,255                     ‐16.3 ‐16.0 ‐7.8 ‐6.7 2.2 1.8 8.8 8.3
WAMCO Global Fixed Interest Apr‐05 365,143                  347,677                  ‐4.8 ‐3.2 0.8 1.7 1.3 1.8 5.8 6.3
WAMCO GMS Global Multi Strategy FI Sep‐11 195,359                  173,831                  ‐11.1 0.7 ‐5.5 2.8 ‐1.1 2.7 2.4 2.6
Hermes UK Property Apr‐05 143,242                  142,817                  ‐0.4 ‐1.3 1.1 0.1 6.3 5.3 6.4 4.8
CBREI Global Property Jun‐11 62,372                     63,229                     1.3 ‐1.3 2.3 0.3 5.8 5.3 8.3 7.4
Golub Capital Partners Private Debt Jul‐17 33,025                     35,284                     9.2 1.4 14.4 5.9 N/A N/A 10.8 5.8
Arcmont (formally Bluebay) Private Debt Aug‐17 29,764                     30,245                     1.3 1.4 7.1 5.9 N/A N/A 7.2 5.8
Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP Venture Capital 4,788                       4,699                       ‐1.4 0.0 ‐4.1 0.0 N/A N/A
In‐house Cash Cash 17,834                     17,226                     N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Fund Manager Cash Cash 156                          151                          N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Brunel Pension Partnership Mandates
Brunel Fundrock Global High Alpha Nov‐19 432,867                  381,851                  ‐11.8 ‐15.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A ‐10.5 ‐14.4
Brunel  Fundrock UK Active Equity Nov‐18 398,977                  292,751                  ‐26.6 ‐25.1 ‐20.0 ‐18.5 N/A N/A ‐11.4 ‐10.2
Brunel Fundrock Emerging Markets Equity Oct‐19 151,606                  120,663                  ‐20.4 ‐18.3 N/A N/A N/A N/A ‐17.4 ‐15.2
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Low Carbon Equities Jul‐18 57,235                     48,467                     ‐15.3 ‐15.3 ‐4.5 ‐4.5 N/A N/A ‐2.1 ‐2.0
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Unhdg) Jul‐18 142,849                  120,614                  ‐15.6 ‐15.6 ‐5.4 ‐5.4 N/A N/A ‐2.7 ‐2.7
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Jul‐18 140,538                  111,772                  ‐20.5 ‐20.4 ‐10.6 ‐10.6 N/A N/A ‐6.6 ‐6.6
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Smart Beta Jul‐18 240,372                  196,325                  ‐18.3 ‐18.2 ‐9.9 ‐9.7 N/A N/A ‐5.3 ‐5.0
Brunel ‐ Colmore Infrastructure Jan‐19 5,189                       6,008                       7.5 0.1 11.0 1.5 N/A N/A 0.3 1.1
Brunel ‐ Colmore Private Equity Mar‐19 3,728                       6,359                       2.1 ‐15.9 21.1 ‐6.2 N/A N/A 31.9 ‐3.9
Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 2,581,771               2,242,939              

Key:
GARS ‐ Global Absolute Return Strategy
WAMCO ‐ Western Asset Management Company
GMS ‐ Global Multi Strategy
TVP ‐ Technology Venture Partners
Brunel PP ‐ Brunel Pension Partnership
LGIM ‐ Legal & General Investment Management
"Unhdg" ‐ Unhedged
"Hdg" ‐ Hedged

3 Years to 31‐Dec‐19  
Annualised Return

1 Year to 31‐Dec‐19  Total 
Return

3 Months to 31‐Dec‐19 Total 
Return

Since Inception to 31‐Dec‐19  
Annualised Return

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 12



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Performance Report ‐ Q2 to 30th June 2020
Performance by Manager vs Benchmark 

Market Value 
31.03.20

Market 
Value 

30.06.20

Manager Mandate Inception Date £000's £000's
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates
Aberdeen Standard ‐ GARS Global Absolute Return Nov‐12 79,715           81,868 2.6 1.3 2.7 5.9 1.3 5.9 2.9 5.7
Blackrock Global Global Equities Apr‐05 63,255           76,616 21.0 19.6 4.6 5.2 8.2 7.9 10.0 9.4
WAMCO Global Fixed Interest Apr‐05 347,677         375,681 8.0 6.8 6.2 6.4 4.2 4.5 6.2 6.6
WAMCO GMS Global Multi Strategy FI Sep‐11 173,831         190,858 9.7 0.6 0.1 2.7 1.3 2.7 3.4 2.6
Hermes UK Property Apr‐05 142,817         2,280 ‐8.8 ‐2.0 ‐8.4 ‐2.5 2.1 3.8 5.7 4.6
CBREI Global Property Jun‐11 63,229           4,112 0.1 ‐2.0 1.8 ‐2.3 5.4 3.8 8.0 7.0
Golub Capital Partners Private Debt Jul‐17 35,284           33,480 ‐5.1 1.3 3.2 5.8 7.9 5.8 7.9 5.8
Arcmont (formally Bluebay) Private Debt Aug‐17 30,245           30,752 1.7 1.3 7.1 5.8 N/A N/A 7.2 5.8
Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP Venture Capital 4,699              4,491 ‐4.4 N/A ‐8.7 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
In‐house Cash Cash 17,226           56,208 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Fund Manager Cash Cash 151                  161 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Brunel Pension Partnership Mandates
Brunel Fundrock Global High Alpha Nov‐19 381,851         473,646 24.0 20.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11 2.6
Brunel  Fundrock UK Active Equity Nov‐18 292,751         326,929 11.7 10.2 ‐13.3 ‐13.0 N/A N/A ‐3.3 ‐3.0
Brunel Fundrock Emerging Markets Equity Oct‐19 120,663         143,312 18.8 18.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A ‐1.9 0.6
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Low Carbon Equities Jul‐18 48,467           58,104 19.9 19.9 7.1 7.2 N/A N/A 7.8 7.9
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Unhdg) Jul‐18 120,614         144,515 19.8 19.9 6.4 6.5 N/A N/A 7.1 7.2
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Jul‐18 111,772         132,324 18.4 18.4 2.6 2.6 N/A N/A 2.7 2.7
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Smart Beta Jul‐18 196,325         226,599 15.4 15.5 ‐2.2 ‐1.9 N/A N/A 2.8 3.1
Brunel ‐ Colmore Infrastructure Jan‐19 6,008              10,124 5.6 0.0 10.3 0.6 N/A N/A 4.0 0.9
Brunel ‐ Colmore Private Equity Mar‐19 6,359              6,825 ‐0.5 19.8 10.6 5.7 N/A N/A 24.5 11.8
Brunel ‐  Property UK Property Apr‐20 ‐                   184,544 ‐0.3 ‐2.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A ‐0.3 ‐2.0
Brunel ‐  Property International Property Apr‐20 ‐                   14,629 0.3 7.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0.3 7.0
Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 2,242,939    2,578,058  

Key:
GARS ‐ Global Absolute Return Strategy
WAMCO ‐ Western Asset Management Company
GMS ‐ Global Multi Strategy
TVP ‐ Technology Venture Partners
Brunel PP ‐ Brunel Pension Partnership
LGIM ‐ Legal & General Investment Management
"Unhdg" ‐ Unhedged
"Hdg" ‐ Hedged

3 Years to 31‐Dec‐19  
Annualised Return

1 Year to 31‐Dec‐19  Total 
Return

3 Months to 31‐Dec‐19 Total 
Return

Since Inception to 31‐Dec‐19  
Annualised Return

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Information Classification: Public

P
age 79



Contents

Page 3     -    About Brunel and News

Page 4     -    Executive Summary

Page 5     -    Market Summary - Listed Markets Equities

Page 7     -    Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Page 9     -    Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Page 12     -    High Level Performance of Pension Fund

Page 13     -    Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Page 15     -    High Level Performance of Pension Fund - Risk Summary

Page 16     -    Brunel Portfolios Overview

Page 40     -    Glossary of Terms

Page 46     -    Brunel Committees and Groups

Forging better futures
Information Classification: Public

Gloucestershire County Council

Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Page 2 of 49

P
age 80



About Brunel and News

We are delighted to confirm that Brunel Pension Partnership has been awarded Environmental Finance’s Pension Fund of the Year award. This is in
recognition of the successful efforts of the partnership to take strong and effective leadership on responsible investment. The award caps off a year of
responsible investment milestones for the partnership, during which it has put into practice the policies and ambitions of more than 300 client stakeholders
on a range of sustainability themes. Drawing on their guidance, Brunel has engaged with over 130 asset manager, and reviewed over 530 investment
strategies, ensuring that the pension funds are allocated in accordance with partnership priorities.

The policies that were laid out in detail in the partnership’s climate policy, published in January 2020, received widespread recognition for the level of
ambition shown by you, our clients, in addressing climate risk. This policy is already delivering real-world impact, as Brunel uses it to challenge the asset
management industry “to build a financial system which is fit for a carbon-zero future”.

Implementing those ambitions is key. On this front, the Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes report showed that all of Brunel’s active portfolios
now have a carbon intensity at least 7% lower than their respective benchmarks, and that we are meeting our portfolio targets for gender diversity.

Laura Chappell, CEO of Brunel, said: “Our clients have high ambitions for strong returns by investing in a world worth living in, and the Brunel Pension
Partnership is proving it can help deliver those goals. This outcomes report reflects on a critical year that has seen successful outcomes in a wide range of
sustainability themes from climate change to cost transparency. Partnership remains key to our success, and many of the achievements disclosed in our first
report came from working with our clients and asset managers on environmental, social and governance issues. As the COVID-19 crisis has shown,
managing these risks is crucial to protect the future interests of our Clients and their beneficiaries.”

In other activities:
• The passing of Barclays’ climate resolution commits it to align all of its financing activities with the Paris Agreement. Almost 100% voted in favour,
demonstrating clear shareholder backing for its ambition to become a net zero bank by 2050. This resolution came about as a direct result of intensive
shareholder engagement over the past year, including the first ever shareholder climate resolution at a major European bank, which Brunel Pension
Partnership co-filed in December.
• We have partnered with StepStone to develop a discretionary infrastructure vehicle dedicated to our clients and to your strategies and values. We look
forward to now launching the Cycle 2 Brunel Infrastructure Portfolio and to a long and productive relationship with StepStone.

Finally, the18th to 24th May was Mental Health Awareness Week, which has never felt more important . As the world continues to grapple with the new
challenges around COVID-19 and lockdown, we must also continue to invest in the people around us by promoting mental wellbeing. Advocating for
mental health awareness is something we are proudly passionate about at Brunel. We firmly believe in the importance of investing in our staff, and that
means taking care of their overall wellbeing – both professionally and personally.

Looking to the future, we will be faced with continuing challenges to adapt to a post-pandemic world, recognising that one size won’t fit all and working
flexibly to support our staff and our clients during this transition. Now, more than ever, mental health is something we all must work together to remain vigilant
on.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 3 of 49

P
age 81



Executive Summary

Performance of Pension Fund

The Fund delivered positive returns on a relative and absolute basis during the quarter. GBP based fund
performance was 12.92%, versus the strategic benchmark of 11.26%. Over 1 year, the fund has returned
1.84%, -0.53% behind the strategic benchmark.

Key Points:

• 12.92% Absolute Net Performance Q2
• 1.66% Relative Underperformance vs Strategic benchmark Q2
• 1.84% Absolute Net Performance 1Y
• -0.53% Relative Underperformance vs Strategic benchmark 1Y

Fund Specific Events

• The Gloucestershire property portfolio transferred to Brunel management in the quarter.

Total
(GBPm)

 31 Mar 2020 2,243

 30 Jun 2020 2,578

 Net cash inflow (outflow) 44

Total Fund Valuation

Mar Jun
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Assets Transitioned to Brunel

GBP 1,285m GBP 1,722m

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 4 of 49

P
age 82



Market Summary – Listed Markets

S&P500 – Price and Earnings Decouple
Source: FactSetEquity markets recuperated following the most significant sell off witnessed since the global financial

crisis of 2007/8. Equity markets across the globe posted double-digit returns, taking investors by surprise
given the ongoing economic stagnation caused from COVID-19. Many market participants continue to
remain sceptical of the decoupling between company earnings and prices, as evidenced by the
S&P500 increasing in GBP terms by +2.9% YTD despite 12-month forward earnings collapsing by almost -
20% over the same period.

Oil prices showed increased turbulence during April, with West Texas Intermediate (WTI) – a proxy for
both US and international prices – falling to -$40 a barrel for some near-expiry contracts in the futures
market. The evaporation of demand caused by the coronavirus led to a global lack of availability in
storage capacity. Prices recovered by the end of the quarter, with WTI pricing at +$39 a barrel by
quarter end, a return of over +90% since the end of Q1 2020.

UK Equities
• UK Equities had a strong quarter. The FTSE All share – a proxy for the UK equity market - returned roughly
10% in GBP. This was the best quarter observed since 2013 yet it still significantly lagged its global peers,
like the United States, by over 10%.
• Basic Materials was the stand-out performing sector over the quarter, appreciating by 27%. Large
benchmark names such as Glencore rose by 38%, clearly benefitting from the strong recovery in
commodity prices. Industrials also had a strong quarter, rising by 19%.
• Oil & Gas continued to struggle as a sector, falling by -7.7% over the quarter. Significant gains from
smaller companies in this sector were offset by losses at oil giants like BP. The company slashed $17.5bn
off the value of its oil and gas assets after taking a pessimistic view on longer term oil prices in mid-June.
BP’s share price fell approximately 8% over the quarter.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 5 of 49

P
age 83



Market Summary – Listed Markets

Emerging Markets – Main Market vs
Momentum Source: FactSet

Global Developed Equities
• Global Developed equities, proxied by MSCI World, increased by 20% in GBP terms over the quarter,
which is the strongest quarterly performance seen since the aftermath of the global financial crisis in
2009. The United States was one of the standout performers over this period, appreciating by 22%.
• Hong Kong equities continued to struggle following Beijing’s sweeping new security law, which
continues to threaten the autonomy of the territory. The quarterly return from Hong Kong equities within
MSCI World was 9.6%, the second lowest out of all countries in the index.
• Technology stocks continued to impress on the quarter, with the sector appreciating by 32% in GBP
terms. Large constituents such as Apple and Microsoft were up 44% & 30% respectively. Defensive sectors
such as Utilities and Consumer Discretionary significantly lagged the broader benchmark return,
increasing approximately by 7% and 9% respectively.

Emerging Markets
• Emerging markets enjoyed a strong rebound in Q2 2020, the MSCI Emerging markets index rose by
almost 19% in GBP terms. Performance dispersion at country level lingered on from last quarter, with
country returns ranging from +44% to +7%. Argentina was the strongest performer, rising +44%. South
Africa also rebounded by approximately 28% following a 36% fall last quarter. China - the largest country
constituent – managed to keep pace with most countries in the index, returning almost 16% over the
quarter. China remains the standout performer on a year to date basis, ending the quarter around 11%
up for the year.
• Health Care was the strongest sector over the last quarter, rising approximately 38% in GBP terms,
making it by far the best performing sector year to date. Financials continued to struggle relative to
other sectors following a 26% decline in Q1 2020; total return in Q2 2020 was approximately 8% in GBP
terms, significantly behind the broader benchmark return of almost 19%.
• High momentum stocks in emerging markets were well rewarded in Q2 2020. The rebound in prices
observed in Q2 2020 was most significant in the stocks that performed best in Q1 2020. The top 20% of
performers in Q1 2020 outperformed the benchmark by over 8% in Q2 2020. The bottom 20% of
performers also outperformed the benchmark, but by a much lower margin of approximately 4.5%.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 6 of 49

P
age 84



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Photo by Dina Lydia on UnsplashOverview
During the second quarter of 2020, the global recession deepened, countries were locked down, but
also many parts of the world re-emerged from lockdown. Barring a potential second wave of Covid19,
the worst economic impact has taken place, but property, infrastructure and private equity portfolios will
continue to reflect the consequences of the first half of the year in their performance for Q3, year-end
and even into 2021.

Infrastructure
Following a pandemic-driven hit to many infrastructure sectors, namely transport and energy, the true
effect of Covid19 is now starting to be reflected in funds’ performance across managers globally.
Virtually no company globally anticipated the extent to which Covid19 would disrupt markets and
societal behaviour, as many assets that proved resilient in previous troughs have behaved differently in
the face of government-enforced social distancing measures. Managers who were thinking more
strategically, with a long-term sustainable focus in their funds, will be the ones that survive.

Much can be learnt about the robustness of supply chains bearing in mind climate change risks and a
potential future virus outbreak. Brunel’s strategy of focusing on the sustainability of its selected funds has
proven more valuable than ever. Considering ESG in a portfolio is not only about protecting clients from
environmentally harmful assets or encouraging better social and governance practices, but it is the key
to stable, robust and long-term strong performance. The Brunel portfolio is heavily invested in renewable
energy funds with long-term contracted revenues. It has no exposure to fossil fuels and has a small
exposure to transport assets. The Cycle 1 StepStone vehicle deployment has been carefully managed, to
avoid exposure to pre-Covid19 pricing assets which are anticipated to underperform and we are
monitoring the activity of managers closely across sectors, sharing the lessons learnt from this market
turmoil and the mitigating actions they are putting in place to ensure the future resilience of their
portfolios.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 7 of 49

P
age 85



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Photo by Mihály Köles on UnsplashPrivate Equity
The private equity market continued to be affected by Covid-19. The public market had a remarkable
quick recovery but the economic was sluggish with different countries experiencing varying degrees of
success in reopening the economy while keeping the virus under control.

The disparity caused mixed views among GPs. Some GPs were cautious while others were active, seeing
this as a window of opportunity to acquire good assets. It was reported that top 10 GPs by deal activities
had deployed $40bn between March and June this year. The deal value from these GPs represented
more than 1/3 of the total deal value made by all PE firms in the last quarter of 2019. Hence, the large
GPs such as KKR, Bain, Hellman & Friedman, etc had been very active since Covid-19, compared to
others. It pointed to a shift in sentiment from the large GPs, which focused on portfolio management
during the early part of the pandemic but starting to invest in deals again.

Property
The lockdown measures in March led to a sharp decline in UK commercial property investment. 2Q 2020
was the weakest quarterly investment figure ever recorded, at around £3bn (1Q’s transaction value:
£15.4bn). Physical inspections have now resumed and £2.5bn worth of transactions are in the pipeline,
though overseas investors represent a smaller proportion of investment activity (35%) in the UK market this
year. Most UK balanced funds still carry a Material Uncertainty Clause for their 2Q valuation until there is
more transactional evidence. With UK total returns over the next four years forecast to be around 3% -
3.8% (annualised) the sector retains its attractions (vs a 0.2% 10-year gilt yield). Investors, driven by
minimal global bond yields, continue to search for low-risk, asset-backed long-income streams within
commercial and residential property.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 8 of 49

P
age 86



Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

#TALKABOUTBLACK
Source: Diversity Project

Barclays UK HQ
source: https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Barclays_CW.jpg

Walking the talk
We were delighted to publish our 2020 Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes Report at the
begining of June. The report, which evidences of policy commitments on ESG risk integration,
engagement and stewardship activities, is one of the first reports to explicity seek to meet the
requirements of the new Financial Reporting Standards – Stewardship Code 2020 as well as the EU
Shareholder Rights Directive. Policy makers globally are ramping up the expectations on disclosure but
we are well placed to not only meet them but deliver best practice.

Climate Governance - Barclays Shareholder Resolution
In December Brunel co-filed a shareholder resolution at Barclays, the first climate change resolution to
ever be filed at a European bank. Since filing Brunel, alongside ShareAction the lead filer, engaged with
Barclays and other shareholders. The positive pressure of shareholders led to a significant step by the
bank, who in April, put forward a proposed “ambition to become net zero by 2050”. While Barclays’ own
resolution set out an overarching 2050-ambition encompassing all financing across all sectors, the
shareholder resolution ensures a greater focus on short- and medium-term actions needed in order to
achieve that long-term goal. Both proposals were put to vote at the May annual general meeting,
Barclays proposal passed, but we were pleased to see that votes for the shareholder resolution (23.95%)
exceeded the 20% threshold that requires the bank to consult with shareholders and explain the views
received and actions taken publicly within six months. We will continue to engage constructively to
ensure that Barclays delivers on its commitments and takes real action to align its financing with the
needs of the low carbon transition.

#TALKABOUTBLACK
In May the world witnessed an outpouring of emotions in response to the death of George Floyd in
America and the subsequent protests globally. This shone a spotlight on the racial inequality which
persists today. #TALKABOUTBLACK, a workstream of the Diversity project looks to address the under-
representation of black talent by developing a sustainable pipeline of black leaders in the asset
management industry. The workstream launched the #IAM campaign to get the industry talking about
this important topic. Stewardship Manager, Helen Price, shared her personal thoughts in a blog: #IAM
#TALKABOUTBLACK. Brunel will continue to engage on this throughout the year. Within the investment
industry representation and engagement is woefully lacking and engagement has not been to the same
ferocity as other aspects of diversity. Although Brunel includes ethnic diversity in it’s Stewardship policy,
we will be reviewing what further steps we can take and continuing to engage on this issue.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 9 of 49

P
age 87

http://https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Barclays_CW.jpg
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Brunel-2020-Responsible-Investment-and-Stewardship-Outcomes-Report.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Brunel-2020-Responsible-Investment-and-Stewardship-Outcomes-Report.pdf
https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/iam-talk-black-helen-price/?trackingId=dgj0UVSjQo%2BNlibNgpARow%3D%3D
https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/iam-talk-black-helen-price/?trackingId=dgj0UVSjQo%2BNlibNgpARow%3D%3D


Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Environmental Finance Award Winner

Human CapitalHuman Capital – tackling mental health and modern day slavery
We joined two engagement initiatives within our theme of Human Capital – workplace mental health
and modern day slavery. Along with other investors, representing £2.2 trillion, we co-signed letters to the
CEO’s of all FTSE 100 companies asking that formal mental health workplans are established during the
period of disruption bought about by the Covid crisis. Before the pandemic mental health was costing
UK businesses between £33 billion and £42 billion every year[1] as well as having devastating social
consequences. The Covid crisis will undoubtably escalate both the financial and social costs of poor
mental health.

We joined a modern day slavery engagement programme called Find it, Fix it, Prevent it alongside
investors representing £3.5 trillion. The programme, which is backed by the Principles for Responsible
Investment and supported by NGO’s and academics, undertakes engagement with an aim to:
1. Push for better public policy to facilitate effective corporate action of modern slavery;
2. Promote better policies and processes for addressing slavery across supply chains; and
3. Develop better data for investors to act on modern day slavery
[1] Stevenson/Farmer (2017), Thriving at Work, The Stevenson / Farmer review of mental health and
employers

Climate transparency – Brunel’s Carbon Metrics
Our Carbon Metrics Report details a number of key carbon metrics for each Brunel Portfolios as well as a
Brunel Aggregate Portfolio. The Brunel Aggregate Portfolio consists of the underlying Brunel Portfolios
weighted by assets under management as of 31 December 2019. The Partnership’s work on climate
change was a strong contributing element of our winning Environmental Finance Sustainable Investment
Awards – Pension Fund of the Year.

Looking at the Weighted Average Carbon Intensity (WACI), the Brunel Aggregate Portfolio is less carbon
intensive than its custom benchmark, with a relative efficiency of 15.4%. All of the Brunel Active Portfolios
have a lower carbon intensity than their respective benchmarks, many substantially lower. All achieved
at least 7% below their respective benchmarks. The report also shows that Companies within the Brunel
Aggregate Portfolio that fully disclose their carbon data is 56% as a carbon weighted measure – and 64%
on an investment weighted basis. Disclosure continues to be a key focus area of our engagement
programme.

See the graphs below for more portfolio by portfolio details. We will continue to develop our Carbon
Metrics reporting.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 10 of 49

P
age 88

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Brunel-Carbon-Metrics-Report-.pdf


Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 11 of 49

P
age 89



High Level Performance of Pension Fund

Ann. Performance Fund Strategic BM Excess

3 Month 12.92% 11.26% 1.66%

Fiscal YTD 12.92% 11.26% 1.66%

1 Year 1.84% 2.37% -0.53%

3 Years 4.86% 5.16% -0.30%

5 Years 7.45% 8.16% -0.71%

10 Years 9.01% 9.05% -0.04%

Since Inception 7.35% 7.84% -0.49%

Performance of Fund Against Benchmark Rolling Quarters Total Fund Net of Mgr. Fees

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

Q
3 2

019

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

Key Drivers of Performance

In Q2 the Brunel managed assets in the Fund delivered positive absolute and relative performance. The key drivers of this positive returns were:

• The Brunel Global High Alpha portfolio which returned 24.04%, beating its benchmark by 4.08% in the quarter.
• The Emerging Markets portfolio delivered 0.17% excess and the Active UK Equity portfolio lagged its benchmark slightly, 0.35% behind target
• Passive portfolios were, as expected, broadly in line with targets

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 12 of 49

P
age 90



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Legacy Assets, 33.22%

Brunel UK Property, 7.16%

Brunel International Property, 0.57%

Brunel Private Equity, 0.26%

Brunel Infrastructure, 0.39%

Passive Smart Beta, 8.79%

Passive Developed Equities, 5.61%

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged), 5.13%

Brunel Emerging Market Equity, 5.56%

Brunel UK Active Equity, 12.68%

Passive Low Carbon Equities, 2.25%

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity, 18.37%

Asset Allocation Split

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 13 of 49

P
age 91



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

-3.0% -2.4% -1.8% -1.2% -0.6% 0.0% 0.6% 1.2% 1.8% 2.4% 3.0%

WAMCO

WAMCO GMS

Aberdeen Standard Investments

Blackrock Global Equity

Blackrock Cash

Passive Low Carbon Equities

Passive Developed Equities

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

Passive Smart Beta

Brunel UK Active Equity

Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Hermes

CBREI

Brunel UK Property

Brunel International Property

Yorkshire Fund Managers

Cash

Aberdeen Standard GARS

Golub

Bluebay

Brunel Infrastructure

Brunel PM Cash

Brunel Private Equity

Allocation Against Strategic Benchmark

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 14 of 49

P
age 92



High Level Performance of Pension Fund – Risk Summary

Ann. Return Benchm. Return

Brunel Emerging Market Equity -1.86% 0.62%

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity 11.04% 2.63%

Brunel UK Active Equity -3.31% -3.01%

Passive Developed Equities 7.13% 7.18%

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged) 2.68% 2.74%

Passive Low Carbon Equities 7.77% 7.89%

Passive Smart Beta 2.79% 3.07%

Manager Level Performance (Transitioned) – Since Initial Investment

Ann. Return Standard
Deviation

Benchm.
Return

Benchm. Std.
Dev.

Aberdeen GARS 1.30% 4.24% 5.86% 0.09%
Aberdeen Inv. -0.38% 6.98% -0.40% 15.30%
Blackrock GE 8.22% 14.08% 7.92% 13.55%
CBREI 5.38% 2.63% 3.77% 3.09%
Golub 7.92% 9.99% 5.75% 0.10%
Hermes 2.14% 5.78% 3.81% 3.15%
WAMCO 4.18% 6.87% 4.53% 6.47%
WAMCO GMS 1.28% 8.19% 2.70% 0.07%
Gloucestershire County Council 4.86% 9.72% 5.16% 8.63%

Manager Level Performance (Pre-Transition) – 3 Year

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 15 of 49

P
age 93



Brunel Portfolios Overview

Portfolio Benchmark AUM
(GBPm)

Perf.
3 Month

Excess
3 Month

Perf.
1 Year

Excess
1 Year

Perf.
3 Year

Excess
3 Year

Perf.
5 Year

Excess
5 Year

Perf.
SII*

Excess
SII*

Initial
Investment

Brunel Emerging Market
Equity MSCI EM TR Gross 143 18.77% 0.17% -1.86% -2.48% 09 Oct 2019

Brunel Global High
Alpha Equity MSCI World TR Gross 474 24.04% 4.08% 11.04% 8.41% 15 Nov 2019

Brunel UK Active Equity FTSE All Share 327 11.67% 1.50% -13.34% -0.35% -3.31% -0.30% 21 Nov 2018

Passive Developed
Equities

FTSE World
Developed 145 19.82% -0.04% 6.42% -0.06% 7.13% -0.05% 18 Jul 2018

Passive Developed
Equities (Hedged)

FTSE World
Developed Hedged 132 18.39% -0.04% 2.56% -0.05% 2.68% -0.06% 18 Jul 2018

Passive Low Carbon
Equities

MSCI Low Carbon
Target 58 19.88% -0.06% 7.10% -0.07% 7.77% -0.12% 18 Jul 2018

Passive Smart Beta SciBeta Multifactor
Composite 227 15.42% -0.04% -2.19% -0.27% 2.79% -0.29% 31 Jul 2018

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Tradeable NAV performance reflects NET performance. The following product pages reflect the portfolio’s NET performance

Where there are disparities between returns quoted above and returns provided for the same fund and period in the following pages, this is because the fund-specific pages reflect the
posttransition phase, important for monitoring the performance of selected managers, while those given above reflect the Clients’ actual experience from the point of initial investment, which
in some cases includes the shared impact of transition costs.

Performance based on tradeable NAV

*Since Initial Investment

Page 16 of 49

P
age 94



Passive Developed Equities

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low cost
highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £2,067,718,183

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 19.83% 19.85% -0.02%

 Fiscal YTD 19.83% 19.85% -0.02%

 1 Year 6.45% 6.47% -0.02%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 7.57% 7.60% -0.03%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

Q
3 2

019

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

-15.00%

-12.00%

-9.00%

-6.00%

-3.00%

0.00%

3.00%

6.00%

9.00%

12.00%

15.00%

18.00%

Global equity markets rebounded strongly from Coronavirus in Q2 2020. Over the quarter the benchmark FTSE Developed World index returned 19.85%, and
also exhibited positive performance for the 12 month period ending 30th of June 2020, up 6.47%. The Passive Developed Equities product closely replicated
the performance of the benchmark.

• GBP depreciated in value against a variety of developed market currencies over the quarter, down 0.35% against the Dollar, down 2.65% against the Euro,
and down 0.42% against the Japanase Yen. As a consequence, the GBP hedged product underperformed the unhedged product.

• All sectors delivered positive absolute performance over the quarter, driven mostly by Technology, which was both resilient in the Covid19 downturn and
strong in the market rebound. Basic Materials and Oil and Gas were also strong over the quarter. Utilities was the weakest performing sector over this period.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 17 of 49

P
age 95



Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low cost
highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £808,679,273

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 18.39% 18.43% -0.04%

 Fiscal YTD 18.39% 18.43% -0.04%

 1 Year 2.56% 2.61% -0.05%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 2.68% 2.74% -0.06%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

Q
3 2

019

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

-20.00%

-16.00%

-12.00%

-8.00%

-4.00%

0.00%

4.00%

8.00%

12.00%

16.00%

20.00%

Global equity markets rebounded strongly from Coronavirus in Q2 2020. Over the quarter the benchmark FTSE Developed World index returned 19.85%, and
also exhibited positive performance for the 12 month period ending 30th of June 2020, up 6.47%. The Passive Developed Equities product closely replicated
the performance of the benchmark.

• GBP depreciated in value against a variety of developed market currencies over the quarter, down 0.35% against the Dollar, down 2.65% against the Euro,
and down 0.42% against the Japanase Yen. As a consequence, the GBP hedged product underperformed the unhedged product.

• All sectors delivered positive absolute performance over the quarter, driven mostly by Technology, which was both resilient in the Covid19 downturn and
strong in the market rebound. Basic Materials and Oil and Gas were also strong over the quarter. Utilities was the weakest performing sector over this period.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 18 of 49

P
age 96



Passive Developed Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

MICROSOFT CORP 102,174,653

APPLE INC 100,012,644

AMAZON.COM INC 78,199,933

FACEBOOK INC-CLASS A 36,396,798

ALPHABET INC-CL A 28,387,337

ALPHABET INC-CL C 27,935,807

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 24,667,498

VISA INC-CLASS A SHARES 21,892,684

NESTLE SA-REG 20,851,049

PROCTER & GAMBLE CO/THE 19,505,489

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO 19,106,800

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 18,596,092

HOME DEPOT INC 18,034,667

MASTERCARD INC - A 17,437,518

INTEL CORP 16,978,635

ROCHE HOLDING AG-GENUSSCHEIN 15,803,035

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 15,291,223

NVIDIA CORP 15,054,853

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 14,556,638

AT&T INC 14,426,468

Top 20 Holdings

0% 7% 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

North America  63.69%

Western Europe  21.73%

East Asia & Pacific  14.11%

Middle East & North Africa    0.18%

Latin America & Caribbean    0.15%

Europe & Central Asia    0.14%

Sub-Saharan Africa    0.00%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24%

Consumer Non-cyclical  23.00%

Technology  16.72%

Financial  16.34%

Communications  12.97%

Industrial    9.56%

Consumer Cyclical    9.52%

Basic Materials    3.75%

Energy    3.32%

Utilities    3.19%

Cash    0.92%

Funds    0.65%

Diversified    0.07%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 19 of 49

P
age 97



Passive Developed Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 20 of 49

P
age 98



Passive Low Carbon Equities

Description

Provide exposure to equity returns
and global economy with low
exposure to carbon emissions and
fossil fuels.

Portfolio is invested in global
equities in accordance with Low
Carbon index.

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,032,515,591

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 19.88% 19.94% -0.06%

 Fiscal YTD 19.88% 19.94% -0.06%

 1 Year 7.10% 7.17% -0.07%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 8.24% 8.36% -0.12%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

Q
3 2

019

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

-15.00%

-12.00%

-9.00%

-6.00%

-3.00%

0.00%

3.00%

6.00%

9.00%

12.00%

15.00%

18.00%

21.00%

• The fund and index have both performed positively following negative performance in the first quarter of 2020 due to the impacts of the coronavirus.

• The Passive Low Carbon Equities fund has performed in line with the MSCI World Low Carbon Target Benchmark (19.88% vs 19.94%).

• All sectors have performed positively, with Information Technology, Consumer Discretionary and Healthcare the three main contributors to return. On a
geographic basis, no countries have detracted significantly from performance over the period with almost all countries and regions performing strongly. The
US is the largest contributor to performance, being both the largest constituent of the benchmark and returning 21.9% over the period.

• Fund performance since the start of 2020 is positive overall, and in line with benchmark (1.53% vs 1.56%).

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 21 of 49

P
age 99



Passive Low Carbon Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

APPLE INC 60,837,878

MICROSOFT CORP 56,168,207

AMAZON.COM INC 44,835,140

FACEBOOK INC-CLASS A 21,062,067

ALPHABET INC-CL C 17,351,386

ALPHABET INC-CL A 15,538,825

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 14,336,215

VISA INC-CLASS A SHARES 12,959,461

NESTLE SA-REG 12,726,495

PROCTER & GAMBLE CO/THE 11,639,487

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO 10,725,645

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 10,514,969

HOME DEPOT INC 10,492,920

MASTERCARD INC - A 10,361,453

INTEL CORP 9,953,820

ROCHE HOLDING AG-GENUSSCHEIN 9,182,244

NVIDIA CORP 8,992,467

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 8,978,674

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 8,716,355

AT&T INC 8,575,938

Top 20 Holdings

0% 7% 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

North America  67.01%

Western Europe  21.12%

East Asia & Pacific  11.38%

Middle East & North Africa    0.29%

Latin America & Caribbean    0.20%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24% 26%

Consumer Non-cyclical  24.38%

Financial  17.48%

Technology  16.87%

Communications  13.33%

Industrial    9.61%

Consumer Cyclical    9.54%

Basic Materials    3.19%

Utilities    2.72%

Energy    2.60%

Cash    0.18%

Diversified    0.07%

Funds    0.03%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 22 of 49

P
age 100



Passive Low Carbon Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 23 of 49

P
age 101



Passive Smart Beta

Description

Exposure to equity markets and a
combination of smart beta factors
to outperform market cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £779,216,271

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 15.42% 15.46% -0.04%

 Fiscal YTD 15.42% 15.46% -0.04%

 1 Year -2.15% -1.92% -0.23%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 3.58% 3.87% -0.29%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

Q
3 2

019

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

-18.00%

-15.00%

-12.00%

-9.00%

-6.00%

-3.00%

0.00%

3.00%

6.00%

9.00%

12.00%

15.00%

The Passive Smart Beta product recorded a return of 15.4% during Q2 2020, underperforming the MSCI World developed index by -4.5%

• This quarter saw the market rally strongly after the large drawdown experienced over Q1. The MSCI World Developed returned 20%, which more than
compensated for the -15.5% return over Q1. Large amounts of global fiscal stimulus have helped to support this rally as cyclical sectors such as Information
Technology and Consumer Discretionary posted +30% returns, whilst the more defensive sectors such as Utilities posted returns of 7%.

• The relative underperformance of the Smart Beta fund can largely be attributed to its defensive characteristics. The fund has an underweight exposure of -
6% to the tech sector and an overweight exposure of 7.4% to the Utilities sector. This allocation effect contributed -2.6% of the -4.5% underperformance.

• A recent observation is that global markets have become increasingly constrained and a small number of stocks have an influence on how the whole
market performs. A straightforward measure of diversification is an effective number. The MSCI World has ~1600 constituents, however it only has an
effective number of 177, this implies that the market is almost 10 times less diverse than is inferred by the number of constituents.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 24 of 49

P
age 102



Passive Smart Beta

Continued Commentary

• The small number of stocks that influence the market can largely be characterised as large cap growth stocks. As the Smart Beta portfolio looks to diversify
risk it has a natural underweight to these large cap positions such as Apple and Microsoft. The fund itself also targets Value as one its main factors which
underperformed growth over the quarter.

• The hedged Smart Beta fund underperformed the unhedged fund due to the long exposure of GBP over the quarter. The hedged fund returned 14.1%
over the quarter, although only slightly down against the USD and JPY, -0.35% and -0.42% respectively, GBP returned -2.65% against the Eur, which
contributed to underperformance of the hedged class.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 25 of 49

P
age 103



Passive Smart Beta – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 5,853,298

WALMART INC 5,495,370

EBAY INC 5,481,554

MERCK & CO. INC. 5,230,623

SYNOPSYS INC 5,050,184

COGNIZANT TECH SOLUTIONS-A 4,792,146

ABBOTT LABORATORIES 4,757,169

EXXON MOBIL CORP 4,726,254

ALLSTATE CORP 4,704,593

WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE INC 4,679,172

APPLE INC 4,627,274

XILINX INC 4,593,244

CUMMINS INC 4,562,580

PFIZER INC 4,542,060

COSTCO WHOLESALE CORP 4,450,287

INTEL CORP 4,425,398

ALPHABET INC-CL A 4,394,349

T-MOBILE US INC 4,373,719

MONDELEZ INTERNATIONAL INC-A 4,338,796

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 4,314,270

Top 20 Holdings

0% 7% 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

North America  64.40%

Western Europe  22.41%

East Asia & Pacific  12.49%

Middle East & North Africa    0.69%

Regional Exposure

-2% 0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22%

Consumer Non-cyclical  21.50%

Financial  18.93%

Technology  12.88%

Consumer Cyclical  10.96%

Industrial  10.94%

Utilities    8.06%

Communications    7.87%

Basic Materials    5.71%

Energy    3.20%

Diversified    0.13%

Funds    0.02%

Cash    -0.22%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 26 of 49

P
age 104



Passive Smart Beta – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 27 of 49

P
age 105



Brunel UK Active Equity

Description

Provide exposure to UK Equities,
together with enhanced returns
from manager skill.

Skilled managers will create
opportunities to add long term
value through stock selection and
portfolio construction.

Managed level of liquidity. Less
exposure to more illiquid assets.

High absolute risk with moderate
relative risk, around 4% tracking
error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,427,039,873

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 11.67% 10.17% 1.50%

 Fiscal YTD 11.67% 10.17% 1.50%

 1 Year -13.34% -12.99% -0.35%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception -3.72% -3.45% -0.27%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

Q
3 2

019

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

-30.00%

-25.00%

-20.00%

-15.00%

-10.00%

-5.00%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

Notwithstanding the strongest quarterly return since 2013 in absolute terms, UK equities (proxied by the FTSE All share) have still not recovered the value lost in
the drawdown in late Feb and March 2020 when markets were first impacted by the Covid 19 crisis. Despite the strong absolute returns this quarter,
uncertainty remains, and UK equities continue to underperform global equity markets significantly on both a quarterly and annual basis.

The Fund outperformed the FTSE All share this quarter by +1.5%, recovering the underperformance of last quarter, but remains marginally behind the
benchmark since inception. Key points:

• The FTSE All-Share Index posted returns of +10.2% in the quarter, underperforming the global stock market which, as represented by the MSCI ACWI Index,
returned +19.8%. This underperformance versus global markets widens when you look over the last 12 months with the FTSE All-Share Index returning -13.0%
and the MSCI ACWI Index +5.7%.

• Both allocation and stock selection contributed positively to the quarterly relative outperformance of the Fund. The underweight to Oil and Gas benefitted
the Fund, with stock selection particularly strong in Financials and Consumer Services.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 28 of 49

P
age 106



Brunel UK Active Equity

Continued Commentary

• The Fund’s position in Shell was reduced materially over the quarter with Baillie Gifford selling their holding entirely and ASI materially reducing their holding.
In general, trading activity has been slightly higher than average as managers move to re-position their portfolios. We have also seen managers participate
selectively in a number of small equity raisings by companies since the Covid crisis.

• Fund outperformance over the quarter was driven by strong performances from Baillie Gifford and ASI, with both demonstrating positive stock selection.
Invesco were marginally behind benchmark for the quarter.

• Since inception, the fund has returned -3.7% on an annualised basis, underperforming the benchmark by -0.3%.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 29 of 49

P
age 107



Brunel UK Active Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 64,924,310

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC 59,506,195

ASTRAZENECA PLC 46,816,160

RELX PLC 45,884,777

UNILEVER PLC 45,214,513

PRUDENTIAL PLC 43,958,024

BHP GROUP PLC 42,861,684

RIO TINTO PLC 39,094,702

DIAGEO PLC 33,382,182

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 27,077,040

BP PLC 25,512,908

AUTO TRADER GROUP PLC 24,334,286

VODAFONE GROUP PLC 24,159,490

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP PLC 23,370,948

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-B SHS 23,030,419

RIGHTMOVE PLC 20,943,639

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-A SHS 20,283,496

HIKMA PHARMACEUTICALS PLC 19,025,810

BAE SYSTEMS PLC 18,757,565

INTERMEDIATE CAPITAL GROUP 17,712,783

Top 20 Holdings

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Western Europe  94.92%

East Asia & Pacific    3.00%

Middle East & North Africa    1.61%

Europe & Central Asia    0.27%

Sub-Saharan Africa    0.14%

North America    0.07%

Regional Exposure

0% 3% 6% 9% 12% 15% 18% 21% 24% 27% 30%

Consumer Non-cyclical  31.86%

Financial  21.44%

Consumer Cyclical  10.75%

Basic Materials    8.26%

Industrial    7.54%

Communications    7.33%

Energy    5.94%

Technology    2.65%

Utilities    1.96%

Funds    1.56%

Cash    0.70%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 30 of 49

P
age 108



Brunel UK Active Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 31 of 49

P
age 109



Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Description

Provide exposure to emerging
market equities, targeting excess
returns and enhanced risk control
from leading managers.
A geographically diverse
portfolio, typically expected to
achieve higher long-term growth
rates than developed economies.

Managed liquidity. Less exposure
to more illiquid assets

High absolute risk with moderate
to high relative risk, around 5%
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,176,947,844

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 18.77% 18.60% 0.17%

 Fiscal YTD 18.77% 18.60% 0.17%

 1 Year

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception -4.42% -2.32% -2.10%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

-20.00%

-16.00%

-12.00%

-8.00%

-4.00%

0.00%

4.00%

8.00%

12.00%

16.00%

20.00%

Emerging markets staged a very strong recovery following the severe market downturn observed in Q1 2020. Returns were the strongest seen since the
aftermath of the Global Financial Crisis almost 11 years ago. The recovery was also broad based, with 24 out of the 26 country constituents in the MSCI
Emerging Markets Index returning more than 10% in Q2 2020 in GBP terms. China continued to surprise on the upside, keeping pace with other countries and
returning almost 16% despite the large outperformance observed in the first 3 months of the year. China remains by far the standout performer on a year to
date basis, returning over 11% in GBP terms. The benchmark has lost -3% over the same period. Taiwan is the only other market to remain in positive territory
on a year to date basis, returning 5.5%.

Key Points:
• The portfolio produced positive performance on an absolute and relative basis. The portfolio returned 18.8% over the quarter, outperforming the
benchmark by 0.2% in GBP terms.

• Genesis and Wellington have both had a strong quarter vs benchmark, outperformance was 0.9% and 1.0% respectively. Ninety-One had a tougher
quarter, underperforming the benchmark by -1.0%.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 32 of 49

P
age 110



Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Continued Commentary

• Relative performance remains negative on a since inception basis, the portfolio is -2.1% behind benchmark as at quarter end. All three managers are
lagging the benchmark over this period; Genesis, Ninety-One and Wellington underperformed the benchmark by -2.4%, -1.7% and -0.9% respectively.

• China was a strong contributor to relative performance this quarter, contributing around +100bps towards relative performance. The improvement in
performance from China was driven entirely by strong stock selection, which was observed across all three managers. The significant negative allocation
impacts from Q1 2020 did not reverse in Q2. The portfolio remains underweight China, currently -4% vs benchmark.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 33 of 49

P
age 111



Brunel Emerging Market Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 76,053,450

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING-SP ADR 67,775,781

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFAC 56,032,200

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS CO LTD 33,643,920

AIA GROUP LTD 20,709,941

SBERBANK PJSC -SPONSORED ADR 17,685,316

WULIANGYE YIBIN CO LTD-A 14,940,223

HDFC BANK LTD-ADR 13,552,291

PING AN INSURANCE GROUP CO-H 12,960,260

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK-H 12,437,045

ISHARES MSCI INDIA ETF 12,209,075

NETEASE INC-ADR 11,752,441

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS-PREF 11,002,824

NASPERS LTD-N SHS 10,809,959

BID CORP LTD 10,678,341

YANDEX NV-A 10,409,718

MEDIATEK INC 10,404,197

INFOSYS LTD-SP ADR 10,011,846

CHINA MENGNIU DAIRY CO 9,923,356

CSPC PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP LT 9,047,865

Top 20 Holdings

0% 7% 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

East Asia & Pacific  67.84%

Latin America & Caribbean    8.98%

Europe & Central Asia    6.51%

Western Europe    6.09%

Sub-Saharan Africa    4.27%

South Asia    2.96%

North America    2.74%

Middle East & North Africa    0.60%

Regional Exposure

-2% 0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24%

Communications  23.55%

Financial  19.14%

Consumer Non-cyclical  18.02%

Technology  16.48%

Consumer Cyclical    7.78%

Industrial    4.34%

Basic Materials    3.72%

Energy    2.54%

Funds    1.54%

Cash    1.47%

Utilities    1.20%

Diversified    0.24%

Fx    -0.00%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 34 of 49

P
age 112



Brunel Emerging Market Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 35 of 49

P
age 113



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Description

Provide global equity market
exposure together with excess
returns from accessing leading
managers.
In order to achieve the best
returns, Managers are likely to
have high conviction,
concentrated portfolios, and to

Managed liquidity. Less exposure
to more illiquid assets

High absolute risk with moderate
to high relative risk, around 5-6%
tracking error

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £3,013,755,342

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 24.04% 19.96% 4.08%

 Fiscal YTD 24.04% 19.96% 4.08%

 1 Year

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 12.68% 4.27% 8.42%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

-16.00%

-12.00%

-8.00%

-4.00%

0.00%

4.00%

8.00%

12.00%

16.00%

20.00%

24.00%

In the short period since launch in Dec 2019, global equity markets have experienced the most significant sell-off since the global financial crisis of 2007/08
followed by the strongest quarterly performance this quarter since that time, reflecting the impact the Covid 19 crisis has had on global equity markets.
Developed equity markets (proxied by MSCI World) returned 20% this quarter and returns continue to be driven by a small subset of very large cap growth
companies.

Against this backdrop, the Fund has continued to perform well this quarter, providing a relative outperformance of +4.1% above the benchmark, delivering
+8.4% outperformance since inception.

Key points:
• This quarter saw a continuation (if slightly less extreme) of the dispersion in returns at stock level and between sectors and countries experienced last
quarter.

• The quarterly relative outperformance was driven by both allocation and stock selection. The largest overweight (Consumer Discretionary) and largest
underweight (Utilities) both contributed materially to relative performance, with stock selection strongest in Healthcare and Communication Services

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 36 of 49

P
age 114



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Continued Commentary

over the quarter.

• Manager performance varied widely too over the quarter, as one would expect given the individual manager style characteristics and the level of
dispersion in the market. Baillie Gifford’s outperformance has been a significant contributor to Fund returns. Such outperformance reflects their strategy to
identify long term growth companies.

• The Fund was rebalanced towards the end of the quarter to return manager allocations to target. This was in response to the allocation to Baillie Gifford
reaching the upper rebalancing threshold as a result of their strong performance since inception. The rebalance helps maintain the style balance and risk
profile within the portfolio.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 37 of 49

P
age 115



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

MASTERCARD INC - A 95,288,406

MICROSOFT CORP 89,779,721

KEYENCE CORP 81,099,745

MOODY'S CORP 71,450,548

ALPHABET INC-CL A 70,465,102

AMAZON.COM INC 62,519,578

NESTLE SA-REG 61,300,925

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING-SP ADR 56,073,801

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 54,918,776

TJX COMPANIES INC 53,967,018

ASML HOLDING NV 51,666,865

FACEBOOK INC-CLASS A 48,587,334

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 48,581,329

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR-SP ADR 46,340,558

TESLA INC 43,893,839

MSCI INC 36,957,333

VERISK ANALYTICS INC 35,977,420

ROCHE HOLDING AG-GENUSSCHEIN 33,807,614

ABBOTT LABORATORIES 32,901,739

GENMAB A/S 32,362,480

Top 20 Holdings

0% 6% 12% 18% 24% 30% 36% 42% 48% 54% 60%

North America  55.06%

Western Europe  27.59%

East Asia & Pacific  16.37%

South Asia    0.56%

Sub-Saharan Africa    0.34%

Latin America & Caribbean    0.08%

Regional Exposure

0% 3% 6% 9% 12% 15% 18% 21% 24% 27%

Consumer Non-cyclical  26.70%

Communications  16.41%

Technology  13.63%

Industrial  13.47%

Financial  11.82%

Consumer Cyclical  11.28%

Basic Materials    4.21%

Cash    1.91%

Energy    0.56%

Fx    -0.00%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 38 of 49

P
age 116



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 39 of 49

P
age 117



Glossary of Terms

 Term  Previously referred as  Meaning

 Absolute return

 Allocation

 Alternative Investment Fund (AIF)

A fund manager that is authorised (full scope AIFM) or registered (if they
manage AIFs with assets under management below certain thresholds) to
manage AIFs such as hedge funds, private equity, real estate funds.

 Alternative Investment Fund Managers (AIFM)

 Annualised

Measures the impact of decisions to allocate assets differently from the
benchmark.
An Alternative Investment Fund such as a hedge fund, private equity, real
estate fund and other funds focused on alternative asset classes.

Figures expressed as applying to one year.

The actual return, as opposed to the return relative to a benchmark.

This is an EU law that requires each AIF managed within the scope of the
Directive to have a single AIFM responsible for ensuring compliance with
the Directive.

 Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive

 Assets Under Management (AUM)
This measures the total market value of all the financial assets which a
financial institution such as a mutual fund, venture capital firm, or
brokerage house manages on behalf of its clients and themselves.

 Attribution Identifies the drivers of performance relative to the fund benchmark. The
relative return is decomposed into two areas; Allocation and Selection.

An investment vehicle and fund manager, based in the UK, that allows
LGPS pension funds or other organisations with money to invest alongside
each other - while keeping a clear record of who owns what.

 Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS)

Expected return based on market indices as dictated by the fund strategy. Benchmark Return

Board of executive and non-executive directors, leading the Brunel
company.

 Brunel Manager
 Brunel Board

Brunel Pension Partnership - The FCA-authorised investment manager entity
that manages the pooled investments. Brunel

The Executive Directors are responsible for overseeing the delivery of the
Brunel objectives. Brunel Executive Directors (ED)

.

 (AIFMD)

 Board

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 40 of 49

P
age 118



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

One of the eight LGPS Pools in England & Wales. A FCA regulated
company, wholly owned by the Administering Authorities, and responsible
for implementing the asset allocation strategies of the Brunel Funds by
investing Fund assets within defined 'portfolios'.  In particular, it will research
and select the investment funds needed to meet the requirements of the
detailed Strategic Asset Allocations.  These investment funds will be
operated by professional external investment managers.

 Brunel Pension Partnership Limited (Brunel)

Brunel Pension Partnership [c£30bn: Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall,
Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire,
Somerset, Wiltshire]
A corporate officer primarily responsible for managing the financial risks of
the corporation. This officer is also responsible for financial planning and
record-keeping, as well as financial reporting to higher management. In
the Local Authorities this is the S151 officer.

 Chief Finance Officer (CFO)

The chief lawyer of the legal department, usually in a company or a
governmental department who minimizes its legal risks by advising the
company's other officers and board members on any major legal and
regulatory issues the company confronts, such as litigation risks. In the Local
Authorities this is the Monitoring Officer.

 Chief Legal Officer (CLO)

A corporate officer primarily responsible for managing the financial risks of
the corporation. This officer is also responsible for financial planning and
record-keeping, as well as financial reporting to higher management. In
the Local Authorities this is the S151 officer.

 Chief Finance Officer (CFO)

This is an investment scheme wherein several individuals come together to
pool their money for investing in a particular asset(s) and for sharing the
returns arising from that investment as per the agreement reached
between them prior to pooling in the money.

 Collective Investment Scheme (CIS)

.

 Creation, Amendment and Deletion policy (CAD Brunel procedure for creation, amendment and deletion of portfolios
 Cross Pool Collaboration Group (CPCG) A collaborative group across the eight UK LGPS pools

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 41 of 49

P
age 119



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

Auditors, appointed to provide internal audit services to Brunel Deloitte
The weighted average time to payment of cashflows (in years), calculated
by reference to the time and amount of each payment. It is a measure of
the sensitivity of price/value to movement in yields.

 Duration

A subset of non-financial performance indicators used by investors to
evaluate corporate behaviour and to determine the future financial
performance of companies.

 Environment, Social and Governance (ESG)

Finance and Legal Assurance Group (with membership of each AAs
equivalent to Chief Finance Officer (CFO) and Chief Legal Officer (CLO))
will sponsor the changes in the Funds and the arrangements for
governance of the Brunel company.

 Finance and Legal Assurance Group (FLAG)

This is a financial regulatory body in the United Kingdom, which operates
independently of the UK government and is financed by charging fees to
members of the financial services industry.

 Financial Conduct Authority (FCA).

 Freedom Of Information Request (FOI)
The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA ) gives individuals the right to
request access to recorded information held by public sector
organisations.

 Fund Manager An organisation that provides investment products

Strategic, financial, economic, commercial and management case. Full Business Case (FBC)

 FundRock

FundRock is a leading third party UCITS Management Company,
Alternative Investment Fund Manager, Authorised Corporate Director and
Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS) Operator. FundRock serves as
Brunel’s ACS operator.

 Fund Return
The total return achieved by the fund or asset class over the period. The
return is obtained using the following equation on a monthly basis:
((capital gain/loss + income) / average balance) * 100

 Grant Thornton Auditors appointed to provide external audit services to Brunel

 INALYTICS An investment transition advisor procured by Brunel to initially advise on the
passive equities transition

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 42 of 49

P
age 120



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

The Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) is a forum for
investors to collaborate on climate change. IIGCC’s mission is to mobilise
capital for the low carbon future by amplifying the investor voice and
collaborating with business, policymakers and investors. IIGCC provides
investors with a collaborative platform to encourage public policies,
investment practices, and corporate behaviour that address long-term risks
and opportunities associated with climate change.

 Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change

The contract with a fund manager Investment Management Agreement (IMA)

 Replaces the
A document that replaces the Statement of Investment Principles under
the 2016 LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations.
Administering Authorities are required to prepare and maintain an ISS
documenting how the investment strategy for the fund is determined and
implemented, including its approach to pooling.

 Investment Strategy Statement (ISS)

The process of a business identifying and verifying the identity of its clients.
The term is also used to refer to the bank regulation which governs these
activities.

 Know Your Customer (KYC)

Investment management firm Legal & General Investment Management (LGIM)

.

 Local Government Association (LGA)

This is an organisation which comprises local authorities in England and
Wales. The LGA seeks to promote better local government; it maintains
communication between officers in different local authorities to develop
best practice. It also represents the interests of local government to
national government.

 Local Authority Pension Funds Investments (LAPF) A magazine for local authority pension investment specialists.
The collaborative shareholder engagement group for local authority
pension funds. The Forum provides a unique opportunity for Britain's local
authority pension funds to discuss investment issues and shareholder
engagement.

 Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF)

 Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
This is a nationwide scheme and is a valuable part of the pay and
rewardpackage for employees working in local government or working for
otheremployers participating in the Scheme and for some councillors.

 (IIGCC)

 Statement of
 Investment Principles

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 43 of 49

P
age 121



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

The Scheme is administered locally for participating employers through 99
regional pension funds Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

 Draft LGPS
Regulations 2016 (Investment Regulations) that came into effect 1
November 2016.

 LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds)

A move toward investment fee transparency and consistency, and part of
the government’s criteria for pooling investments. LGPS Code of Transparency (Transparency Code)

The impact of the assets producing returns different to those assumed
within the actuarial valuation basis, excluding the yield change and
inflation impact.

 Market volatility

The rate of return on an investment including the amount and timing of
cashflows. Money-weighted rate of return

.

 Fund Portfolio The grouping of the asset types to be available for funds. For example,
Global Equities Core, Hedge funds, UK Gilts, LDI.

 Portfolio group The higher level category of asset types. For example, equities, alternatives,
fixed interest.

 MiFID

MiFID is the European Union (EU) legislation that regulates firms who provide
services to clients linked to ‘financial instruments’ (shares, bonds, units in
collective investment schemes and derivatives), and the venues where
those instruments are traded. MiFID applied in the UK from November 2007,
and was revised by MiFID II, which took effect in January 2018. MiFID II is
made up of MiFID (2014/65/EU) and the Markets in Financial Instruments
Regulation (MiFIR - 600/2014/EU).

 Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II (MiFID II)

The return on a fund compared to the return on index or benchmark. This is
defined as: Return on Fund minus Return on index or Benchmark. Relative return

Measures the impact of performance at asset class or manager level in
relation to the overall fund. Selection

 Regulations 2016 (Investment Regulations)
 (Management and
 Investment of Funds)
 Regulations 2016

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 44 of 49

P
age 122



Glossary of Terms

 Term  Previously referred as  Meaning

 Time-weighted rate of return

 Yield (Gross Redemption Yield)
The return expected from a board if held to maturity. It is calculated by
finding the rate of return that equates the current market price to the value
of future cashflows.

The rate of return on an investment removing the effect of the amount and
timing of cashflows..

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 45 of 49

P
age 123



Brunel Committees and Groups

 Full name  Abbreviation  Chair  Purpose

 Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee  ARC  Patrick Newberry

 To oversee key functions of the Regulated Company, including:
            -   Financial and Annual reporting

            -   Compliance and whistleblowing
            -   Internal controls

            -   External audit function

 Brunel Investment Committee  BIC  Mark Mansley (CIO)
            -   Responsible Investment update
            -   Stakeholder input (from CRT)

            -   Procedures
            -   Investment proposals (private and listed mkts)

            -   Forward look

 Brunel Investment Risk Committee  BIRC  Mark Mansley
 To provide challenge and insight in respect of investment risks and
 exposures. This will include oversight of portfolio guidelines and monitoring.

 Brunel Oversight Board  BOB  Ray Theodolou (Glos)

The senior client group that oversees Brunel on behalf of the funds. It is
made up of representatives from each of the Pension Committees and an
independent Chair. It is a joint committee set up by the Brunel
Administering Authorities (i.e. the 9 Councils, with the Environment Agency
being included on terms recognising its non-local authority status). Acting
for the Administering Authorities, has ultimate responsibility for ensuring that
the Brunel company delivers the services required to achieve asset
pooling. This body of people represents shareholders for the purposes of
any matter requiring shareholder approval, including any reserved
matters.

 Brunel Operations Committee  BOC  Joe Webster             -   HR policies
            -   Technology and infrastructure

            -   Regulatory change (and compliance with)

 Formal meeting of the Brunel Investment Team, covering:
            -   Economic and Markets update

 To review the detailed elements of Brunel’s operations, including:

.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 46 of 49

P
age 124



Brunel Committees and Groups

 Full name  Abbreviation  Chair  Purpose

 Brunel Operations Committee  BOC  Joe Webster
            -   Finance
            -   Managing supplier relationships
            -   ICAPP oversight

 Brunel Risk and Compliance Committee  BRCC  Kevin Jones

 Client Group  CG  Sean Collins

 The Executive Committee  ExCo  Laura Chappell

 Remuneration Committee  RemCo  Denise Le Gal

 Second line review overseeing the Compliance and Risk function
 Sub-committee of the Brunel Oversight Board (see above), it is responsible

The core responsibility of ExCo is to oversee delivery of the Brunel

 In line with the Shareholders Agreement, to set and monitor remuneration

 Chief Investment Officer
 Chief Operations Officer
 Client Relationship Director

 policy including that for senior management remuneration.

 for the client oversight of the Brunel manager on a day to day basis. It
 includes people with finance and investment management expertise.

objectives. The Executive Committee comprises:
 Chief Executive Officer

.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 47 of 49

P
age 125



Disclaimer

This material is for information only and for the sole use of the recipient, it is not to be reproduced, copied or shared. The report was prepared
utilising agreed scenarios, assumptions and formats.

Brunel accepts no liability for loss arising for the use of this material and any opinions expressed are current (at time of publication) only. This
report is not meant as a guide to investing or as a source of specific investment recommendations and does not constitute investment research.

Certain information included in this report may have been sourced from third parties. While Brunel believes that such third party information is
reliable, Brunel does not guarantee its accuracy, timeliness or completeness and it is subject to change without notice.

Nothing in this report should be interpreted to state or imply that past performance is an indicator of future performance. References to
benchmark or indices are provided for information only and do not imply that your portfolio will achieve similar results.

Brunel provides products and services to professional, institutional investors and its services are not directed at, or open to, retail clients.

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

Information Classification: Public

Page 48 of 49

P
age 126



Information Classification: Public Page 49 of 49

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 129

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes -
	6 Presentation on Responsible Investment & Climate Change
	7 Actuarial Update Report
	Hymans Funding Update Appendix - Item 7

	8 Exit Credit Policy - Hymans Robertson
	Appendix 1 - Exit Credit Policy Item 8

	9 Pension Fund Risk Register
	Risk Register for Sept 20 FINAL Item 9

	10 Pension Fund Business Plan 2020/21
	11 Pension Administration Report
	12 Market Valuations & Quarterly Performance Review
	Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Performance summary to 30 June 2020
	2020 Q2 Glos performance report - June 20

	14 Exempt Minutes
	15 Investment Report
	16 Private Markets Update

